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Tuesday, October 7, 2014
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of a submission by the Ontario Power Authority to the Ontario Energy Board for the review of its proposed expenditures and revenue requirements and fees for 2013.  This matter has been assigned Board File No. 2013-0326.

The Board held a hearing on this matter on September the 18th.  At the conclusion of the oral testimony and cross-examination of the OPA panel, the OPA presented its argument-in-chief.

We are sitting today in order to hear the submissions of the intervenors and Board Staff and the OPA reply.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, good morning.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  Tom Brett for the Building Owners and Managers Association.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, good morning.

MR. PYE:  Good morning, panel.  Adrian Pye, IESO.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Pye, good morning.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  With me today is my client, David McIntosh, and Brady Yauch.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, thank you.

And I understand we have some people on the phone this morning?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, good morning, Madam Chair.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME, and if I can just thank the panel for the indulgence of permitting me to provide the submissions, which will be short, over the phone today.

MS. LONG:  That's no problem.  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

And Ms. Grice, are you on the line as well?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, good morning.  It is Shelley Grice, representing AMPCO.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Good morning.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff, and with me on behalf of Board Staff is Michael Bell.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.

Now, before we proceed, Mr. Cass, anyone else, are there any preliminary matters?  No?  Then I understand that an order has been agreed to this morning, and Mr. Rubenstein, you are going first?
Closing Argument by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.  Thanks to my friends for allowing me to sort of jump the queue.

I have prepared a short compendium of documents that go with the argument.  I don't know if the panel has a copy of that.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't know if we can mark that as an exhibit?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1:  SEC CLOSING ARGUMENT COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, panel, as this proceeding has progressed, the landscape has clearly changed.  First, with respect to the budgeted legislation which passed in July, creating a framework for the merger -- or the combining of the OPA and the IESO, but second and most significantly, the announcement that the merger would take place on January 1st, 2015.

Because of that, since it is already October of 2014 and we are setting fees for 2014, and as well as where the interim is already set, the usual fulsome review of the OPA's expenditures, in my submission, at least from the SEC's point of view, was not where we ended up focusing for the purpose of this argument.

Our primary focus is the issues surrounding the merger, specifically the OPA's proposal to retain $15 million in the forecast variance deferral account, the FVDA.

It's SEC's position that the Board should approve the OPA's expenditures and revenue requirements and its usage fee and registration fee as set out in the application but reject its proposal regarding the retention of the $15 million in the FVDA.  The FVDA should be refunded to fee-payers.

Now, Mr. Cass in the OPA's argument-in-chief on a request by myself provided the OPA's position on the Board's ability to do just that.  It was the OPA's position that you cannot.  Either you accept the proposal in its entirety, including the FVDA, or you must send the entire matter back, as set out in the legislation.  SEC disagrees, and I'll explain why.

It was confirmed by Ms. Kosic at the hearing, the $60.3 million, the OPA's expenditure and revenue requirement, is the 60.3 million for the 2014 fiscal year, and the 43.9 percent -- cents per megawatt-hour is fee -- usage fee is to allow the OPA to collect that $60.3 million expenditure in revenue requirement.  The expenditure in revenue requirement does not include the $15 million allowance for merger costs.

I think it's key to understand the legislative framework under the Electricity Act, as it is different from the Board's usual just and reasonable rate-setting authority under the OEB Act.

If I could take you to page 7 of the compendium.  I would provide an excerpt from the Act, the Electricity Act.

Section 25.21 sets out the framework for the Board's review of the requirements and fees.  Subsection 1 requires the OPA to submit at least 60 days before the beginning of each fiscal year its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for that fiscal year and its fees to the Board for review, but not until after the Minister approves the business plan.

Then subsection 2 outlines the Board's powers.  They are to either approve the proposed requirements, and those requirements, I'd submit, are the expenditure and revenue requirements that are set out in subsection 1, and the proposed fees, or may refer them back with the OPA with recommendations.

There is no reference to deferral accounts or other approvals, simply the expenditure and revenue requirements for the fiscal years and fees.

Now, I don't mean to say that the Board cannot approve deferral and variance accounts.  The Board has the authority to create variance and deferral accounts by necessary implication, as they are simply practically necessary to accomplish the statutory authority which the Board has, and I think this case is quite clear.  At a high level the usage fee is simply the OPA's revenue requirement divided by its forecast load.

The reason the FVDA needs to exist is simply to true-up the revenue to the costs, since if the load changes the OPA can over- or under-collect its approved revenue requirement.

And I would also say it's to ensure that consumers are not paying more than the OPA's actually using.  The statutory objectives for electricity under the Ontario Energy Board Act, which the Board is familiar with, also apply to its authority in this regard under the Electricity Act.

Section 1(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act requires it to utilize the -- to follow the objectives for electricity in its responsibility under the OEB Act, as well as any other act in relation to electricity, and this provides protection of consumers if the OPA simply doesn't utilize the amount of money that it had originally had approved.

The approximately 33 million balance in the FVDA is primarily due to the fact that the OPA's fees and expenditures were last approved in 2011, and yet its actual expenses decreased in 2012 and 2013.

In essence, it over-collected in 2012 and 2013 primarily because it did not come before the Board for approval of its actual expenditures and fees for those years, or seek a lower interim fee payment as it had done in this proceeding with respect to 2014.

The OPA could have, but ultimately did not, amend its expenditure and revenue requirement and fees for the purposes of seeking approval for merger costs for the 2014 fiscal year.  This was put to Ms. Kosic at the hearing, and essentially it was the OPA's position that this was a pragmatic -- I think the words were essentially a pragmatic approach.

Ultimately it's the Board's principle that the amount over-collected for the past year should -- we would submit should be returned to ratepayers -- to fee-payers in this case.

That was the point of the account initially.  That is how the surplus accumulated in the account.  It is time for fee-payers to have the money returned to them.

And I say the Board can still approve the proposed expenditure and revenue requirement and fees as proposed as set out in the Electricity Act, and yet still have the authority to reject or amend the proposal sought out regarding the FVDA.

The approval of the OPA's proposal for disposition of the FVDA is incidental to the Board's authority under section 25.212, and I would say that the Board still has the authority to change that.

I would say this -- at least with respect to 2014, and I'll get to it in a moment, the purpose of the FVDA as propose proposed by my friends is actually contrary to section 25.212 of the act.

So putting aside the Board's authority to only reject the FVDA proposal, the question then is:  Should it or can it approve the OPA's proposal to retain the $15 million in the account for merger costs?

The OPA has said that the merger costs that will come out of the retained amount in the FVDA will be costs for both 2014 and 2015.  And I think it's important to separate those two time period, because they attract different concerns, money that will be utilized in 2014 and money that could be utilized in 2014.

And I will first address the issues with respect to 2014.

For SEC, it would seem to be that the Board has the authority to approve any amount, even if it is at some later date that is not included in the proposed expenditures and revenue requirements to be ultimately collected from ratepayers in the fiscal year 2014.

The scheme of the act in setting out the OPA's fees is that the OPA applies with its operating and revenue requirements for a specific period of time or fiscal year.  And then they are either entirely rejected or approved by the Board on the evidence before it.

Here, the OPA is essentially saying:  Approve our revenue and expenditure requirements for 2014, but our requirements are actually different.  We're not asking you to approve it at this point and we have no real evidence about what those costs ultimately will be, but they will be more than the amount that we have set out in the act.

It would seem to me that would be inconsistent with the scheme of the Board's process under the Electricity Act, which is different from its just and reasonable rates power to essentially -- and I would say it's essentially to approve a single number for a specific fiscal year.  That's what the Electricity Act sets out.

Another concern with respect to the 2014 time period is that it came out in cross-examination that with respect to 2014, the OPA intends to expend money from the FVDA on merger costs, not only for it itself but for the IESO.  And SEC would submit that's inappropriate for a couple of reasons.

The first is the ISEO has already had its expenditure and revenue requirement fees approved for the 2014 fiscal year.  It would seem to me it would be inappropriate through another agency to have its revenue -- funds flow to it indirectly for its revenue requirement when it has already been approved for the 2014 fiscal year.

And second, and this is less of a legal concern, but simply, OPA fee-payers should not have pay for IESO costs.  They're not the same fee-payers.  While there is obviously significant overlap, the IESO collects funds from export customers.  The OPA, through its registration fees, not just its usage fees, collects from a host of -- through the FIT program or other generators.  And it would seem to be inappropriate to have OPA fee-payers pay IESO costs for 2014.

With respect to 2015, SEC's concerns are slightly different.

The first one is similar, though, and that's the OPA has over-collected for fee-payers and is essentially asking OPA fee-payers to provide it a loan to pay for merger costs in 2015, costs that would be -- in the normal course would be incurred not just on behalf of the OPA fee-payers but IESO fee-payers, which are not the same group.

Second, in essence, what the OPA is saying before you is that the combined fees of both the OPA and the IESO, which upon merger will remain in place until a fees application is brought before the Board, will not be enough to cover the costs of the combined entity, and that there will be added costs of the merger and that they will be not offset through any inefficiencies that will be found because of the merger in 2015.  And I would say that's pretty significant.

I put the purpose of the merger to Ms. Kosic at the hearing, and she said -- this is on page 19 of the transcript:

"Cost efficiencies are certainly one element of what the merger is going to result in, but they are not necessarily the key driver."

And I would say to the Board the purpose of the merger is exactly that.  It's -- cost efficiencies is the key driver.

And if I could take you to page 9 of the compendium, specifically this is from the budget that -- this is this year's budget, which -- and it was in the budget bill that enacted the statutory provisions to combine the entities.

And on page 10, in the fourth paragraph, I think it's pretty clear what the government's purpose is.  It says:
"The government is also proposing legislative amendments to consolidate two electricity agencies, the Ontario Power Authority, OPA, and the Independent Electricity System Operator, IESO, in order to realize efficiencies and contain costs."

And I would say cost efficiencies, and to realize those efficiencies, is the primary purpose of the merger.

The Minister in his letter approving the business plan seemed quite happy that the OPA was refunding $25 million to ratepayers.  With the new proposal, at best, we have the response in Undertaking J1.6, which is that there is a merger working group and the Minister's chief of staff sits on that committee.  And that working group is aware of the proposal.

But I would say that's very different than the endorsement provided.

SEC submits that the merged entity should have to make do with the combined fees of the OPA and the IESO until such time that it is able to bring forth its own application with its own evidence, under the transition provisions of the act or under the -- what I would call sort of the regular provisions of the act with respect to the combined entity.

Mr. Cass in his argument-in-chief framed the issue as being the OPA or the merged entity either has to borrow the money or use the money that comes out of the account; there is no real difference.  And I would disagree.

First, by its nature there is a difference.  The OPA is essentially asking the OPA fee-payers to lend it money upfront, instead of, at worst, the OPA borrowing its own money if it cannot find those necessary efficiencies.

And as Ms. Kosic admitted at the hearing, the OPA has not even investigated any other financing methods for the merger.

But the second question is, and the ultimate question is:  Is there a need to borrow money in the first place?

And I note that there's no cash flow concern from the OPA -- sorry, from the OPA or from the IESO, what would be expected from the merged entity.

The OPA and the IESO does not have a -- the issue is they don't have the cash flow to accommodate the merger and the cost.  That's why they need the money from the FVDA now.

Ultimately, the OPA and the IESO transact in billions of dollars a year.  While its administration costs that the Board approves is a small sliver of that, in terms of a cash flow issue it has significant resources at its disposal.

More importantly, SEC fears this.  Even though the Board is not approving today any amount for 2015, the pressure needs to be put on the combined entity to realize the supposed cost efficiencies an offset to the merger-related costs in 2015, because if the account exists, the pressure is not on the combined entity to keep merger costs down.

When it seeks approval of the prudence -- and I know Mr. Cass doesn't like the term "prudence," but the reasonableness, the appropriateness -- whatever term that you want to use -- a few things will happen.

The first, as it was realized by Mr. Cass, it's going to be somewhat hard to track, you know, where -- the allocation of every dollar.  Is it an OPA dollar, an IESO dollar?  There will be obviously some sort of combined amounts.  That will be -- it will also be hard to track what's an incremental merger cost from sort of the usual business concern.

But second, the OPA will roll -- would roll the approval into its revenue and expenditure requirements when it's seeking sort of approval of the amount that it will -- for 2015 that it will have withdrawn from the FVDA.

Then the Board, unlike, in my submission, what it can do for 2014 in this proceeding, is actually going to have to make the decision to send the entire thing back or approve it.

And even if the Board has some concerns about the amount spent, essentially it will be put in sort of an all-or-nothing situation with respect to the fees.  And I think that puts sort of less pressure on the OPA -- or on the merged entity than would otherwise be in a normal rate case.

And I would say the $15 million number is nothing more than a guess.  And to be fair, I would call it a guess, not an estimate.

Ms. Kosic at the hearing could not point to really anything to substantiate that amount, not even a percentage of what amount of the 15 million would likely be spent in 2014 and 2015.  And this is on page 22 through 24 of the transcript.

Now, on page 2 of Undertaking J1.1 -- and I've reproduced this at page 12 of the compendium -- the OPA provides at line 9 what it calls an example of "an analogous situation," which was -- and I'll read it here:
"The OPA believes this may be helpful to provide an example of an analogous situation that occurred when the OPA was created.  O.Reg. 4705, fees for the OPA's 2005 fiscal year under the Electricity Act 1998, provided the IESO would pay the OPA established fees out of any surplus collected to the end of 2004.  In the 2006 revenue requirement submission the OPA stated in EB-2005-0489..."

And I won't read that, but it goes on to say essentially that the IESO provided seed money for the OPA, and that would be an analogous situation.  The $15 million would act as essentially a seed money for the merged entity.

I think it's important to point out that the regulation was made pursuant to a provision of the Electricity Act which is now being repealed, which allowed for the fees for 2005 for the OPA to be set by regulation as a transitional measure when the OPA was created.

And I provided on page 15 -- right on page 13 a copy of the regulation, and page 15 I provided a copy of what was the act at that time.  And under 25.21, subsection 6 and 7, it provides that transitional 2005 measure, and subsection 7 provides that by way of regulation, that those fees could be set by regulation.

And I bring this up to note that the legislature did not enact similar provisions for the merged entities.  There are numerous transitional measures in the legislation, including for setting fees, but none provide any sort of seed-money arrangement.  And I think the Board should consider the fact that the legislature did not provide a similar provision to show that this is not an analogous situation, and, you know, going together with the fact that the purpose of the merger with respect to cost efficiencies that this would not be appropriate.

There is one final concern regarding the FVDA for 2015, and I ask this:  What happens if the combined entity does not come before the Board in 2015 for approval of its expenditure and revenue requirements for 2015?  Does the Board in 2006 -- in its approval of the 2016 expenditure and revenue requirement approve the 2015 amount spent in the FVDA, but that's the only portion of the proposed expenditure and revenue requirements and fees that it approves?

And I ask this because the answer does not seem to be clear.  And by way of example, the Board issue orders to the OPA in December of 2011, making the 2011 interim fee -- the usage fee interim in 2012, and I've provided this on page 17 -- 16 and 17 of the compendium, the Board's interim fees order in EB-2011-0339.

It then in 2012 provided -- and this is on page 20 -- it provided a letter saying the 2012 fees remain interim until it approved final 2013 fees.  This was on a request -- and this is on page 19 of the compendium -- on a request by the OPA that its interim fees will continue in effect until such time as the Board makes a final order with respect to the OPA's final fees.  So essentially the OPA's fees have been interim for all of 2012, all of 2013, and we know of the 2014, this Board's order for this year, that the fees would be interim.

Yet in this proceeding the OPA is not seeking to have those fees declared final, and that there's an appropriateness of the -- or an approval of the revenue of -- sorry, of the expenditure and revenue requirements for 2013 and 2014.

The only approval that the OPA is seeking with respect to expenditure, revenue requirements, and fees is for 2014.  So the question is, if they don't come in in 2015, is the Board going to be able to review the amounts that are in that account.

At its core there are just simply too many unknowns:  How will the IESO track the merger, what the actual merger costs will be, how will the review and approval look like?  Mr. Cass used -- you know, was opposed to using the word "prudence", so we're not exactly sure in the OPA's view what actually -- the test that the Board will -- or the consequences of that will be.

All of that will lead to questions, in the SEC's view, that the Board should reject the proposal to include the $15 million in the FVDA.

And on top of that, just simply the broader principle:  OPA has over-collected from ratepayers for a number of years because it didn't bring forward an application.  That money should be retained -- returned to fee-payers.

One final comment on the FVDA issue.  A question arose from the panel during the hearing, and Mr. Cass spoke about this during the -- and it was the ability of this panel to bind the merged entity, and I agree with Mr. Cass with respect that this Panel can, and he brought you to a number of specific statutory provisions under the act of transitional statutory provisions, and I'd also note this insofar as there may be a concern from the Board -- there may be a concern from the Board that in this -- can this Board bind the future panel to do so, because it can only bind the OPA with -- in with respect to its responsibilities that it has, as there is no merged entity before you.

I note that the other half of the merged entity, the IESO, is a part of this hearing, and the Board can make an order with respect to various things that the IESO would have to do.  If it feels that it wants to provide the FVDA to the OPA as requested, it could provide an order to the IESO to start tracking right away its merged costs.  Mr. Pye is here.  The IESO is a party to this proceeding as well.

And let me briefly address one other issue in the application that's a concern of SEC, and that's stakeholder engagement.  And I premise this not as a reason to deny the application in full, but concerns that I think the Board should express to the OPA, and it is something it should do with respect to the merger, especially when it comes on its next fees case, and I think this goes to issue 6.4:  Has the OPA properly responded to previous Board decisions?


As SEC argued in the 2011 fees proceeding, the OPA stakeholder engagement specifically as it relates to consumer electricity are inadequate.  While the OPA has many stakeholders, ultimately the purpose through all its activities is to service consumers of electricity, and while the OPA does not -- while the Board does not regulate generally its generation procurement or conservation activities, which make up the vast majority of its budget, consumers ultimately pay for those electricity costs.

The OPA in its evidence put a lot of emphasis on new stakeholder -- the new stakeholder advisory committee, and Ms. Da Rocha confirmed that began in 2014, and that it was a new initiative, and in the last proceeding in 2011, the OPA discussed the creation of the stakeholder advisory committee, and I've provided a copy of the previous decision.

And on page 27 the OPA states that in addition to the -- the Board references the OPA's discussion that it will create a stakeholder advisory committee, and on page 39 of the compendium, at paragraph 20, I've provided essentially -- this is from the OPA's reply arguments, where it discusses this.

So I would note that that was in 2011.  That would be two-and-a-half years after the OPA discussed that they were going to create a stakeholder advisory committee, from the summer of 2011 til the beginning of the actual formation or their first meeting in January of 2014, took two-and-a-half years.

That's a significant amount of time, obviously.  And it just sort of shows -- I would say it's indicative that the OPA is not moving with sort of the appropriate amount of effort in reaching out to various consumer groups and with its stakeholders.

Further, in the last proceeding -- and it is again -- it is a reference on page 27 of the compendium, page 7 of that decision, it says:

"The OPA stated that in addition to establishment of a stakeholder advisory group, the OPA will hold a session prior to the filing of its revenue-requirement submission.  At this session intervenors in the 2011 proceeding will be able to discuss their views and questions with the OPA.  The OPA expects that the timing of this session is likely during August 2011."

And this was -- the OPA committed to do this in its reply argument.  This is on page 40 of the compendium, paragraph 23 of the OPA's reply submission.

But as was confirmed by Ms. Kosic at the hearing, no session with intervenors for that purpose ever took place, and this was on page 34 of the transcript.

So even with those two commitments by the OPA in the last proceeding, the Board was -- even with those two commitments, the stakeholder advisory committee that were coming, and that there would be a session with ratepayers before the filing of that, the Board still made comments that it was not satisfied with the stakeholder consultation process.  And this is on page 14 of the Board's decision, and on page 33 of the compendium.

The Board uses terms like -- I'm quoting at the bottom of page 33:

"The Board has concerns regarding the OPA stakeholder engagement process and organizational transparency, both in terms of program design and communication."

And then later says on page 33:

"The Board appreciates that the organization is often in reactive mode, responding to pressing directives from the government.  However, the Board is of the view that the appropriate consultation will result in improvements in program design, implementation and measurement, and likely to increase acceptability and credibility of OPA programs.  The Board is of the view the OPA will be well served by refining its stakeholder engagement consultation process to increase transparency and inclusiveness at all stages of the program design.  The Board is of the view that the OPA should provide evidence how its processes have evolved in conjunction with its 2012 expenditure and revenue requirement and fees application."

I should note that the Board was already aware that there was going to be a stakeholder advisory committee and there was going to be this consultation process with intervenors.

Even with those two commitments, the OPA has simply not done enough.

Mr. Cass said in his argument-in-chief -- and this is as page 136 of the transcript:

"So my submission is simply the OPA has put the effort into stakeholder engagement, as described in the evidence to which I've referred.  But we know that the new organization -- I keep saying the new organization -- the combined organization that will exist on January 1st, it has the statutory obligation that it specifically related to stakeholder input.  And in my submission, rather than trying to take this car further down the road in this case than it has already gone, again, it would be best, as I submitted, to wait until the first case of the combined organization that will be subject to the section 18 to which I am referring to the Board."

In essence, at least as I understood it, Mr. Cass was saying the combined organization will be under a statutory obligation regarding stakeholder input, so let's deal with that issue in the next fees case.

And I would note that the OPA, under its current version of the Electricity Act -- and I can take you to page 6 of the compendium -- section 25.12 provides the same statutory obligation now to engage customers as well as stakeholders as the new organization will be under section 18, which Mr. Cass was referring to in his argument-in-chief.

It is not clear to SEC why, if the job is inadequate, it is being done inadequately now.  Anything besides the influence of current IESO employees would change how the Board does its stakeholder engagement.

The consumer should be at the heart of the conversation with the OPA when it makes those decisions; a simple webinar or stakeholder committee which only has two consumer representatives is not adequate.

SEC submits the Board should send a strong message through its decision in this case that the new entity must come before the Board with a more robust and inclusive stakeholder engagement process, at least with respect to the activities the OPA currently undertakes in its -- in the merged entities for its fees case.

Those are our submissions, subject to any questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, I have one question for you.

I think you've articulated two concerns that SEC has with respect to 2015.  And one is what happens in the case that the merged entity does not come back in 2015 for a review of these merger costs, what do we do then.  And I think I understand your point on that.

But the second issue that you raised with respect to 2015, is it that it may be difficult to articulate and, I guess, therefore allocate what those merger costs are, that some might be blended into general expenses?  An example -- I don't know, an upgrade to your IT system or a redesign of your website or something.

Is your concern that those expenses might actually get lost and it would be up to the Board to do a very onerous review, I guess, in 2015 of those expenses?

Or, I think as you've suggested, we might just say generally this looks okay, and not wanting to send it back, there may be -- you might be concerned about the level of review of these merged expenses?

Have I explained your position well?  I'm trying to understand exactly what your point is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think there are a few things that are going to happen when the Board -- if the Board approves the application as sought with the FVDA, when they come back in -- if there's a fees case in 2015, and --


MS. LONG:  Let's assume there is a fees case in 2015.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- there's sort of approval of that, there's a few concerns on that.

First, there seems to already be some sort of level of disagreement about what the Board -- what's its authority.  Mr. Cass didn't like to use the term "prudence."  I mean, I would disagree with his view there, but there is some sort of disagreement.

The issue, then, on top of that becomes the Board essentially -- because what it will do is, since it will be its fees for 2015 in an expenditure and revenue requirement will be rolled into its fees application, not here where they've separated it out for 2014.

The Board essentially then, because of the statutory mandate, it is an all-or-nothing game for the Board, to some degree.  Right?  It is either asked to sort of accept the application and -- I don't know what another – how it -- a future panel will look at it, but I would say the nature of it tends to sort of be a slightly less rigorous review because of that, not where, in a normal rates case, the Board can adjust a small element of a rates case and say:  Well, your costs for this should actually be less.  The Board doesn't have that ability to do it.

In terms of the tracking costs, I think while Mr. Cass in his opening submissions at the hearing talked about how there will be all this sort of tracking, he later admitted in his argument-in-chief that there will be some costs, sort of, that you can't put in one bucket or the other bucket.


And I think, regardless, it is going to be -- while I would say if the Board does approve it, there should be rigorous tracking as much as possible, I think we -- at some level there is some sort of agreement that is going to be hard to do, just the nature of it, and that the Board will sort of be having to untangle this web of determining:  What's a merged cost and what's not?  But then:  What's OPA's responsibility?  What would be the IESO fee-payers' responsibility afterwards?

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Brett, are you ready to proceed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I was wondering if I can take my leave.  I am needed down the hall in another proceeding.

MS. LONG:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Rubinstein.
Closing Argument by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Panel.  Just before I start, I've left -- I think I have on the dais, I've left you a copy of one document, which is simply -- which I'll refer to in my argument.  It is simply the letter that was written by the OPA to the Board in July -- January 12th, 2007, requesting the establishment of this deferral account.

And it contains as an appendix quite a good, clear description of the account, the need for the account.  It is under the title: "Forecast variances."

And it was an exhibit in that -- came to be an exhibit in that proceeding, so that's -- I asked -- I think you have that up there.  I asked -- I thought that would be useful because we don't -- we've been talking quite a bit about this variance account but we don't have a really good description of it, and this appendix contains a good description of it.

And the other thing that I would note and I will note in my argument is that the Board, in this case, subsequently approved that in their order.  They approved that.  And I don't know that -- their approval was contained -- and I will come back to this, but at page 5 of their decision.  A decision --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Mr. Brett, to interrupt.  You are referring to a compendium, I believe.  And we should be making that an exhibit but -- or a document, but we have not been provided a copy of it.

MS. LONG:  This is the January 12th, 2007 letter?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I thought you were referring to a decision or another --


MS. LONG:  From the OPA?

MR. BRETT:  You all have copies of it.

MS. LONG:  It is four pages.  There is appendix attached that is two pages.

So the Panel has that.  And we'll mark that as...

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  K2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2:  LETTER DATED JANUARY 12, 2007, WITH ATTACHED APPENDIX.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry for the interruption.

MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  And I think just as a footnote to that and to maybe just telescope this a bit, the Board did approve that variance account at page 5 of their decision of March 7th, 2007.

And I don't have extra copies of that, but I'm sure the Board does.  And Mr. Cass, I can give him a copy of this when I'm finished.

So to start off, my argument is really going to have two parts to it.  The first part is going to deal with this question of the deferral account which everybody has been fixated on for the last few weeks, but I have a second part to my argument, and the second part for my argument will deal with the other issues that arose in the course of this case.  And I will elaborate a little more fully when I get to that, but as you know, there was a lot of effort put into this case well before this deferral-account issue came along.


BOMA, for example, asked 62 interrogatories on the OPA evidence.  They were, many of them, very serious, well thought out, in our view, interrogatories.  A number of issues -- these other issues were debated and discussed at length in the settlement conference.


Unfortunately parties weren't able to reach agreement on them, but those are issues that really had nothing to do with the deferral account.  The deferral account is a sort of Johnny-come-lately in this case, and for reasons which I will explain at the beginning of the second part of my argument, I don't think the other parts of the case should be -- attract less attention than they deserve in this case.


So if I can start off dealing with the settlement -- dealing with the deferral account, I think it's important -- we've heard a lot of comment in the last few days at the hearing and in the earlier argument with my colleague that, you know, the solution that the Board chooses should be reasonable and pragmatic.


Of course, no one disagrees that the solution should be reasonable, and everyone tries to be pragmatic in the way they approach things, other than ideologues -- I don't think we have too many of those here.


But at the same time, you know, does -- solutions have to be fair to ratepayers.  They have to serve -- they have to be consistent with basic regulatory principles, and they have to be legal.


So with that introduction, let me state a conclusion, our first conclusion, and then I will explain why we have come to that.


BOMA's view is that the Board does not have the authority to allocate funds from the OPA's forecast variance deferral account to pay for the costs incurred by the IESO for the remainder of 2014, nor does it have the authority to allow the funds from the deferral account to be used to pay for the costs of the OPA for the balance of 2014.


And I will discuss those separately because some of the reasons are common, but some of the reasons, as won't surprise you, are a little different.  First of all, as I said at the outset, this forecast variance deferral account is an OPA account.  It was created five years ago in the decision I refer to, and clearly it was created to deal with revenue expenditure variances, if I can use a shorthand.


And I think that Mr. Rubenstein explained that quite well.  You know, you set your fees based on forecast expenditures, and real expenditures can be different than forecast expenditures, and real fees can be a bit -- actual fees can be different from forecast fees.  This kind of issue arises all the time in rate cases, as you both well know.


And that -- as I said, that account was approved by the Board in EB-2006-0233, and when they -- in approving it, the Board said:

"The proposal to establish a 2007 forecast variance deferral account to capture revenue variances for disposition in the context of the OPA's 2008 revenue requirement submission and to record any cost variance between actual 2006 expenses and the Board-approved revenue requirement for 2006 that is not incorporated into the -- OPA's 2007 revenue requirement is approved."

So it's a little bit of a tongue-twister, but basically it's approved.  If you look at the definition of how the account's described in the document I referred you to and then you look at this, it's pretty clear what the deferral account is all about, what it's supposed to cover.


Now, unfortunately, they didn't draft -- no one thought -- or the OPA didn't think to actually draft an account in the language that you typically are familiar with in rates cases, so we don't have, to my knowledge, a formal draft of this account the way you normally would.


But nonetheless, it seems clear what the purpose of the account is, and it seems to me, to BOMA, that it's not, contrary to what has been said, it is not broad enough to cover the use of money to pay for costs connected with the merger, either by the OPA itself, certainly not the IESO.


And the reason for that, particularly the reason it cannot cover, it seems to me, IESO costs, is that we have two separate statutorily created entities here that are in operation, and they will be in operation until the end of this year.  I'm not sure exactly how they're going to operate in 2015, but it seems, from my reading of the statute, that effectively the OPA is being absorbed into the IESO, speaking generally.  You can also call it a merger, and I think that's fair.


But in any event, in the evidence, Ms. Kosic's evidence was, at page 9, when asked about this, both the OPA and the IESO will track and accumulate integration costs through separate and unique accounts in their accounting regimes.


So you are going to have separate accounts.  The notion, as I understand it -- in fact, the testimony has been that the money will actually be paid out from the OPA account -- this is what the OPA would like -- but it will be paid out for expenditures that will be incurred by and reflected in the OPA's account on one hand and the IESO's account on the other hand.


And I don't see -- I would say that that -- I don't see that that's legally possible.  You have two statutes that provide separate objectives for these two large entities.  They have separate ratepayers, and any deferral accounts that they create in the process of conducting their business surely must be deferral accounts that relate to their own operations, to their own doings, to their own needs, in the sense of their operational needs.


That's what deferral accounts are.  I mean, you think of the deferral accounts that are set up in rate cases for things like unrecorded gas recovered, you know.  They're items that have to do with the basic operations of the corporation.


And the company's evidence in this case is that the merger is not part of the business plan, it's a one-off event, were the words that was used.  Ms. Kosic said:

"Our position is that it is not part of our core operations in the sense of costs that would be in our base spending on an annual basis.  It is a one-time circumstance."

So our second point is, using funds from the deferral account for this purpose is inconsistent with the purpose of the deferral account as set out -- as approved by the Board.

The Board didn't approve a deferral account that would be a grab bag of funds for all sorts of unforeseen events; it approved a deferral account with a very specific purpose.  And this is not included.

So I don't think it can be used for this purpose.  It would be an abuse of process and an abuse of regulatory principle to use this.

And it appears that, from the evidence, what's happened is that senior people in the OPA and IESO sat down and decided this is how they were going to do this, and more or less informed the other members of their management, their transition committee.

And that's fine, but that's not how it works.  They don't get to sit down and decide how to do this.  The Board decides how this is going to work.

I would urge the Board to give weight to that evidence that I cited at the outset of the proceeding about the two accounts, the separate two unique accounts, because later on in the proceeding things seem to wander a bit.  And without -- I don't have the time to go through chapter and verse, but I would suggest that you focus on the evidence -- you know, you focus on the -- on some of that -- on that evidence that I cited you.

The other point is, and this -- Mr. Cass introduced this notion, and it was picked up by his client, about no colour-coding of expenses.

Well, that's not right, with respect.  Expenses are colour-coded for the most part.  The OPA will have terminations.  They will have manpower issues.  That's colour-coded.  That's the OPA's issue.

The IESO may have similar things.  They almost certainly, each of them, will have human resources-type problems, and those are their own issues and they can be identified separately.

And to say that they are all part of merger costs doesn't really say very much.  It really just says if you add them up, you have the total of the merger costs.  Well, so what?

The issue is:  Can they be identified and assigned separately?  If we were in a cost allocation hearing, we would be talking about direct assignment.

Now, there may be certain costs -- and the same would be true with legal costs.  Many of these issues will have legal issues surrounded in -- embedded in them, but those will be legal costs to the OPA and the IESO.

And there may be termination payments on contracts that have to be made for, say, a certain IT system that the OPA has that, you know, may have to be discontinued, let's say, because eventually we're going to run into one separate system.  That will probably, for one thing, take quite a while, but those are separate costs.  Those are the OPA's costs.  And it would be the OPA's costs to modify that system, to make it compliant.

So I think that, by and large, the costs are identifiable to one or the other bodies, and I don't think that should be put up as an argument, saying:  Well, it's all one bundle of costs and -- I mean, that's -- it -- I don't think that that's a solid argument.  They aren't all one bundle of costs.  I think the evidence is different.  Even though we don't have detailed evidence at this stage on the dollars, we have evidence on the categories.

So the other thing is -- the third point is, you know, we have the -- in terms of the use of the deferral account, we have nothing from the Minister -- none of the witnesses could cite any directive from the Minister telling them how they should finance this merger.

The Minister did send an earlier letter back in January, at which point he expressed his pleasure that they were going to be able to return $25 million to ratepayers, to OPA ratepayers.  And you're familiar with that letter.

But I was seeking to try and find out in my questions -- and others were too -- as to, well, you know:  Did the Minister tell you to do it this way?  Because that might have some bearing.

But it was apparent that there was no explicit communication from the Minister.  There was apparently a follow-up letter from the Minister pertaining to some employment-related matters, but the OPA declined to provide that letter, citing relevance, that it wasn't relevant and that it was confidential.

Well, of course they should have provided it under confidential requirements, but the point being -- the point being that there is no evidence that the Minister said:  This is how you should do it.  And the OPA said:  Oh, well, we informed the committee, this transitional committee, the Ministry and the Minister's office.

But that's not the same thing as a direction from the Minister.  We all know that.  Hundreds of things go through a Minister's office and the bureaucracy.  And the Minister is pretty selective about what he picks out, typically, and commits to paper.  And he didn't do that in this case.  He didn't say, in other words:  Use the funds in the deferral account.  The last thing we have on record is:  I'm happy that you are returning $25 million of what's in that deferral account to ratepayers.  Of course he'd be happy about that.

So our second recommendation here is that the -- well, one further point.  And this is a point that I think has been made -- I think you folks have made -- has been made that there is very little detailed evidence on what this $15 million is for at this stage.  It's a high-level estimate.  So our suggestion would be that the -- and it is in evidence that the ratepayers of the OPA are different than the ratepayers of the IESO.  That was discussed.

It is also a matter of law that both of these organizations have access to the Ontario Energy Financial Corporation, if they require it.  They can borrow money.

And in fact the statute provides fairly flexible procedures for allowing that to happen.  It, for example, delegates the power to approve loans through some mid-level officials.  I don't have the piece of the statute in front of me, but it's -- the identical section appears in the existing OPA, in the existing IESO Act and in the revised -- what I'll call the "merger act."  The same provision is there, that they are -- they're not guaranteed, but they are –- the government has the right to -- legal right to loan them money.

And this was agreed to in the proceeding.  I think that on at least one occasion, Ms. Kosic was asked about whether this was an option, borrowing money was an option, and she said it was and it's something they could examine.

So our position is -- is that the -- really is twofold.  One is that you should clear the account.  You should clear the account to ratepayers, the entire account to ratepayers, and you should do that before the end of 2014.  At the end of 2014 the OPA will cease to exist.  And people can quibble with "ceasing to exist", but I'm not talking about corporate law here, I'm talking about the way in which regulatory law works and the way in which administrative and public law works.

There will be no OPA after December 31st.  And so those funds which the OPA themselves have admitted are funds that should be returned to ratepayers -- and they say that in their revised evidence, Exhibit D, D as in dog, tab 3, schedule 2, page 204, line 10:

"The OPA's position is that the ultimate beneficiaries of the cumulative surplus should be ratepayers, as it is ratepayers that contributed these funds initially."

And Mr. Cass has told you that you can clear the deferral account; you can clear all of it, none of it, a part of it.  In fact, he started off saying this hearing is about clearance of deferral account.

Well, I don't agree with that.  It is about much more than that, but it is -- you can clear the deferral account, and I would urge you to clear it in its entirety to ratepayers.  If you wish to leave a half a million dollars in the account because of some -- you know, something between now and December 31st, some further imbalance that would occur between regular expenditures and revenue, or some number that you think is appropriate, we would not have a problem with that.

Now, the second part, though, is that you -- we would suggest that you return the remainder of the -- that you decline to approve the remainder of the -- of the submission, on the grounds that -- and I'll come to this, as this constitutes the second part of my argument, and I will try and justify this second piece in the second part of my argument -- that you decline to approve the submission at this point because -- on the grounds that the OPA has not taken -- has not taken the action that they were asked to take in the 2010 case, in terms of working on producing better milestones and metrics and producing a better system of consultation, and that as a result of that you're not in a position to really -- you don't have the evidence that you need to really say whether the numbers that they have put forward for their operating costs are appropriate.

And on that note, I'm going to switch to the second part of my presentation, which is -- so I'm finished now with the section on the -- and I know it's -- I'll try and speed up this a little bit.  It's not particularly long, but just by way of introduction, I think two points.

One, I know you are both familiar with the EB-2010-0279 case, and that was a substantial case, as you know.  There was a substantial argument in that case, both at the issues day and in the argument of the case, around the jurisdiction of the Board.  And that's why I raise it.

And there were different positions, and the Board was, to its credit -- I think took the time and effort to understand this, and they came out with some very -- what in my mind are very clear statements about the Board's jurisdiction with respect to the OPA.

And they can be found in particular at page 6 of that decision, where they talk about -- they quote -- the Board quotes itself on issues day -- its issues day decision.  I mean, it quotes itself in its reasons for decision on the case on its -- what it said at the issues day in that case, and the decision itself, really, it's page 10 and 11 and the top of page 13.

Now, I don't really think I should read these pieces.  You can read them yourselves.  Maybe the only one that -- the most general one -- maybe that one I will read -- is one paragraph from the issues day.

The pieces that I quoted to you -- well, let me read this issues day piece.  This is page 6 of the decision in that case:

"The Board finds that its mandate in this case is limited to the approval of the OPA's administrative fees, which comprise approximately 3 percent of the OPA's total annual spending.  However, the Board is of the view that an assessment of the OPA's administrative fees must require an examination and evaluation of the management, implementation, and performance of the OPA's charge-funded activities."

Now, as you know, the charge-funded activities are the several billions of dollars that are spent on CDM and energy procurement each year and recovered from customers through the global adjustment.

And they say:

"This is necessary because the OPA's administrative and non-administrative activities that are funded by fees and charges respectively are unavoidably linked.  It is the Board's approved fees that give the OPA the means to acquire and allocate the resources, e.g., staff, that are required to undertake its various responsibilities, resulting in charge-funded activities."

And the last sentence is, I think, important:

"The Board finds that an assessment of the performance of the OPA's charge-funded activities..."

That's the programs that they talk about in their submission and their annual reports and in their milestones.

"...is a necessary, legitimate, and reasonable tool for determining the effectiveness of the OPA's utilization of its Board-approved fees."

So there you have it, and I haven't seen, nor do I expect to see, a clearer statement of the Board's jurisdiction.

The other parts that I pointed you to, which are pages 10 and 11, and those are comments that the Board made in that case with respect to milestones and metrics -- and I won't read them, but they are important because they are, in some -- to some extent, they are quite critical comments, and they are basically the Board's message to the OPA to come back next time and do better.

So that's at page 10 and 11.  And then at page 13, starting at the bottom of page 12, and going on to page 13, you have just one paragraph -- sorry, two paragraphs that deal with consultation.

And again, it's important, because in those two paragraphs, the Board has comments about the OPA's consultation practices to that time.  And again, it serves as the basis for their suggestion to the OPA that they refine their stakeholder consultation processes, and I'll just quote one line:

"To increase transparency and inclusiveness at all stages of program design."

Now, that's the Board speaking.

So with that as introduction, let me carry on, if I may.  And I don't -- this analysis that I will provide in argument is not exhaustive by any means.  I mean, there's a need to cut the cloth to the circumstances.  What I've used are some illustrative examples, but I have used the ones that the Board zeroed in on in this case.  And they are metrics and milestones on the one hand and consultation on the other.

And I know the temptation is in this case to say:  Well, you know, we're moving on here.  This is the last case.  We're going to have a whole new management, a new entity.  So why should we -- why should we spend too much time in this case on these issues?  You heard this from my colleague in his argument-in-chief, you know:  Should we push this car too far down the road now?  Wouldn't it wiser to wait?  Wouldn't it be wiser to let this all surface in the context of the next new management, the new organization?

We disagree with that strongly, for probably three reasons.

One, just to get the kind of legal question out of the way, it is clear -- if it wasn't before, it certainly is clear given the new statute, the merger statute's wording that any Board orders apply to the OPA in this case, bind the OPA, and they go with it.  As Mr. Cass put it the other day, the OPA carries these orders with it.

And that's very clear in the statute.  And I think the relevant section is 25.11, but I -- don't trust my memory on that exactly, but it's clear.  That issue has been researched by both -- we have researched it, certainly.  Mr. Cass has researched it.  I believe it's quite clear.

I say that because very early in the case, sort of some of the comment that you heard was:  Well, you know, we can't bind this or we can't bind that.

Well, it depends on who you're talking about.  If you're talking about the Board, the Board's orders do go with the OPA.

Then the second reason is -- and these, I'd say, reasons are in ascending order of importance.  The second reason is that from the point of view of functionality, I'm sure you understand that the IESO as it exists today does not have any of the functionality of the OPA.  It doesn't have people that do CDM work; it doesn't have people that procure generation.  That's not their problem.  That's not their issue.

And it has a little bit of competence in demand management, but that is recent and that's simply due to a Ministerial directive in the last year, to start to transfer the OPA's work in demand management over to the IESO.

And that has to do, with among other things, the IESO's efforts to start to think through a possible capacity market in Ontario.

But it doesn't have that functionality.  That functionality moves over in its entirety from the OPA.  So, you know, it's the OPA that -- its people, its leadership that these issues are concerned with.  And I'm particularly -- BOMA is particularly concerned with the portion of the OPA that is dedicated to conservation and demand management.

We have less concern with the overall planning function, and probably still less concern with the energy procurement function.  But we have serious concerns with the evolution and the performance of the CDM part of the OPA.

But the point, again, is there -- it doesn't sort of work to say:  Oh, well, let's wait.  Why would you wait?  You have the OPA here undiluted by its present -- its being part of a larger organization.  In many respects it's easier to deal with it now.

And the third reason is, you know, if it sort of skimmed, skimmed by it now, it really is dismissive.  The OPA is, I think, being dismissive of very serious efforts that many intervenors have made in this case to obtain meaningful responses from the OPA for suggestions for improvement.  I mentioned the 62 interrogatories; these were directed at areas where we thought answers should be forthcoming.

Some answers were forthcoming, but in many cases they weren't.  Or they weren't clear.  Or they were perfunctory.

So if I go on, then, to -- the issues, really, that I wanted to touch on in my argument were milestones, consultation and accountability.

And milestones and metrics are sort of blended together, and the question -- the overall question is, as I say, it's the OPA that provide -- or are to provide the leadership in this area, in CDM in Ontario.  They've been mandated to do that in their statute.  It's not just that they've been mandated to facilitate; they've been mandated to promote and -- to promote the growth of energy efficiency and demand management, to do whatever it takes, effectively, to move that forward.

If you want to use one word, they're supposed to be the leaders.  They're the leaders.  That's the test.

So it's important, I think, for the Board to consider, you know, in looking at their request for resources, have they improved their effectiveness over the last years and have they responded properly to the Board's findings and suggestions in the 2010 case?

There are three things that we think the OPA should be doing to reflect those comments that were made by the Board in that case, and that we don't -- and that they appear not to agree to do.

The first is -- you may recall some cross-examination in this area, but our view, BOMA's view, is that the OPA should set out annual targets for each of its programs, not just a target at the end -- for the end of six years.

As you know, the government has mandated a new six-year CDM plan for Ontario.  They've said "Conservation First" is their resource allocation principle.

So if you are going to have a serious program, you need to have milestones, serious milestones.  Milestones, I think, are another word for target.  If it you are trying to assess whether people are doing a good job and an effective job in what they've been asked to do by the government, I don't know how you do that unless you have regular, annual targets.

No business would say:  We only need one target six years away.  They would say:  We do want an overall target, but we need mileposts along the way so we can check and we can determine -- and the people can determine –- well, no, the senior managers can determine what progress is being made.

We have a situation now in the current four-year program that ends at the end of 2014 where the OPA told you in evidence that they're not going to meet their capacity target.  Now, there are only two targets they have in this business; one is for energy and the other is for capacity.

I don't know by how much they're going to miss it.  We don't have the numbers yet for that.  My suspicion is it will be missed by quite an amount.

Now, that doesn't represent -- that's a problem.  That's a serious problem.  I'm not saying the OPA is solely responsible for that, but they are the leaders, you know.  They wrote those programs, they designed them, they set up the contracts with the LDCs to administer them, they have the right to approve the programs before they get launched.

You may not -- you may recall a couple of years ago when this program was started -- when this four-year program was being launched, they were a year late getting it started.  It didn't start in the first year, it started in the second year, because the contracts weren't ready, and all the programs weren't designed.  And that's a matter of public record.  The Board had two hearings on that, and they were most unpleasant hearings, because they -- not because the Board wasn't trying to do the right thing, but because it showed, effectively, a sort of chaotic condition that these programs were in.

So I think targets should be insisted upon.  That's what milestones are.  And metrics and milestones are closely linked.  I would say metrics -- we say metrics have more to do with, you know, measuring the overall progress of the organization, but the fact of the matter is, as you can see from your reading of that evidence and from the comments, in fact, that Mr. -- my colleague Mr. Cass made and Mr. -- one of the witnesses made earlier last week, you know, you really -- the metrics have to be brought down to specific programs.  You can't create something that very easily will be meaningful unless you get down to talking about how the individual components of these programs are progressing.  So that's number one.

The OPA agreed -- and just so you understand what, you know, what I'm specifically referring to, those programs that I'm talking about are set out in pages 16, 17, and 18 of the -- I'll give you the exhibit number.  It is Exhibit B as in boy, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix C, and that happens to be the OPA's annual report for 2012.  It is in its evidence in its entirety.

On those three pages they list all of their programs, and they talk about what they've accomplished, the reports.  They agree that they're not targets, they are reports of what's happened to date.  We say we need targets.

And that's particularly important, given that we're on the cusp of -- as we speak, the OPA and the LDCs are negotiating to establish this six-year plan.  It is supposed to start January 1st, 2015.  It is a couple of months from now.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Brett, we are going to take an eleven o'clock break.  Do you have much more that you want to finish, or should we take a break now and --


MR. BRETT:  I have roughly about ten minutes, or maybe it's better -- maybe it would be appropriate to take the break.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  I think we will take the break now until --


MR. BRETT:  And I will finish up in ten minutes after you come back.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  We will break until 11:20, and then we'll hear from you from 11:20 to 11:30, and then we'll move on, Mr. DeRose, to you.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:24 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Brett, please continue.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.

I want to speak briefly about consultation.  And you will recall I referred you early in my argument to the -- some quotations from the Board's previous decision, the last decision, EB-2010-0279.

I want to read one three-line excerpt from that, from page 13, middle paragraph, because it's on topic -- on consultation.  It says here:

"The Board is of the view that the OPA would be well served by refining its stakeholder consultation processes to increase transparency and inclusiveness at all stages of program design.  The Board is of the view that the OPA should provide evidence of how its processes have evolved in conjunction with its 2012 expenditure and revenue requirements fee application."

So against that -- against that suggestion, what is the situation?

Well, we learned that there has been one consultation with customer stakeholder groups, that is to say the groups represented in these proceedings in 2011.  There hasn't been a meeting since of this group.

There was a consultation held on July 10th of this year, as I understand it, to a broader group, at which point the OPA answered questions on the decision it had made in March.

Third, the Conservation First working group, which is referred to in evidence, and which you will recall consists -- the Conservation First working group is the group that's working to design the new six-year program.  It has on it the OPA, several electric utilities and the gas utilities.  In addition, the OEB and the Ministry have observer status, but the operating negotiators are the OPA, the electric utilities and the gas utilities.  And their job is to construct the framework for the new six-year program, and what the OPA is going to do, what the utilities are going to do, and what the nature of the programs will be.

No customer stakeholder group has been invited to those meetings, notwithstanding the fact that the customers are the entities that will be asked to put shovels in the ground.  And as you are doubtless aware, the customer groups, broadly speaking, include industrial, institutional, commercial and residential.

None of those groups or their representatives have been invited to any of those meetings of the Conservation First working group.  And there have been, as I understand it, many meetings.

Now, you heard a little bit in the evidence about webcasts that were held for 400 people.  With due respect, that's not consultation.  That can't be real consultation.  That can be a forum for outlining what you're doing, but with 400 people that's a huge -- that's a presentation.  That's an event.

There is something called the conservation advisory group, which was set up some time ago, but my understanding is -- well, I've looked at the membership of that group.  It is mainly utilities and academics, people from think tanks.  It has two energy consumer groups' reps on it.  One from the CCC for residential, and one from AMPCO.

No representation of the commercial and institutional customer groups, who -- I don't think it's open to doubt -- have been the major, major participants in the energy efficiency programs in Ontario to date.  The people that have set -- that -- I don't think this is really a secret.  It is these groups that have done the pioneering work for the most part.  Why aren't they included?

There seems to be a pattern here of the OPA consulting with a select group, but not including many of the people that should be included, despite many overtures.

So what I am suggesting -- what we would suggest is the following.  We've heard from Mr. Cass earlier, and from -- I'm sorry, I keep forgetting the name of this witness.  He represents -- he's from the planning group at OPA and was on the panel.

In any event, we've heard from them that they've had a great difficulty, despite a large effort -- and I don't belittle the effort -- they've had great difficulty coming up with reasonable proposals for metrics and milestones.

If you read the evidence, certainly the -- one can see that.  Milestones are often very general.  And even with the assistance of our friends at Concentric, they didn't appear to make much progress.

Our suggestion would be that the Board suggests that the OPA convene a group which would work together over a period of time, sort of an iterative exercise, to develop milestones and metrics that are practical and reasonable and acceptable to the large customer groups that you see in these proceedings.  If they wish to bring in an outside expert, fine.

But it should be a group that meets regularly for, perhaps, 12 to 18 months.  It should focus just on metrics and milestones, getting the best information from various sources.  You will probably hear from Dr. Higgin about the notion of a scorecard, and I think that can be part of it.

And it should be something that people are prepared to make a serious commitment to.  It should be funded.  And within, say, 18 months or 12 months, it should be required to come back with evidence that the Board could say:  This evidence is really useful to us in determining the effectiveness and efficiency with which the OPA's organization -- you know, the existing or the new -- is conducting its affairs.  We have confidence that they are doing this in the right manner and that they have people in the right places and the right targets, and that they've defined milestones and metrics that we can have some confidence reflect the effectiveness of what they're doing, which is -- so that would be our submission.

And those are our submissions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

Mr. DeRose, we have you on the line?
Closing Argument by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank you Panel, again.  I do appreciate being able to do this via teleconference.

And I'll start by saying this.  My comments are going to be much shorter in time than SEC and BOMA's, and I would just caution, I would ask the Board not to misinterpret brevity with a lack of interest.  The reality is that we have worked very carefully and closely with Mr. Rubenstein, and he has covered much of the areas of our concern in detail, and so behind the scenes we had a pretty good idea of what he was going to say, and so what I have tried to do today is focus on a few points that we would like to just reiterate and a couple of unique aspects, I believe.

Secondly, we are also in certain points of the argument going to be -- our comments will be made both on behalf of CME and AMPCO.  Again, this goes to -- and I know it's hard sometimes for the panel to get a window into the cooperation that occurs behind the scenes, but in this case, in particular, there has been a high level of cooperation between the intervenors, and the fact that we are providing comments on behalf of AMPCO, in part, is another indication of that.

Let me start by saying this:  We do not take issue with the revenue requirement of 60.3 million that is sought, and we also do not take any issue with the proposed usage fee of 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour.  Our comments are entirely focused on the appropriate manner to deal with the forecast variance deferral account.

And with respect to the FVDA, we view that there are two issues that the Board needs to determine that we will address.  The first issue -- and for this issue we are only -- our submissions are only on behalf of CME.  AMPCO is not commenting on this first issue.  But the first issue:  Should the OPA be entitled to withhold $15 million in the FVDA in order to pay for merger costs?  Just to give you a preview, our position is they should not.  And then the second issue, which is on behalf of AMPCO and CME, is that if withholding of 15 million is approved, then what ratepayer protection or protections or directives should the Board impose on the OPA, which, as set out in Mr. Cass's argument-in-chief, would then flow through and become binding on the new entity?

So let me turn to issue number 1.  Starting with the balance of 33.6 million, as was set out in cross-examination -- and it's page 13 of the transcript, just for reference -- that the 33.6 million that's currently in the forecast variance deferral account is a result of the OPA's over-recovery from ratepayers since 2010.

So in assessing the appropriateness of clearing the account now or using it for activities that arise in late 2014 and 2015, we encourage the Board to keep in mind that this is the result of over-recovery, which, as we sit here today, almost -- started commencing almost four years ago.

It is CME's position that as a matter of regulatory principle full amounts should be refunded to OPA's fee-payers as soon as possible.  Failure to do so will result in the payments made by OPA fee-payers for the years 2010 to 2013 to be used, in effect, to subsidize the OPA's fee-payers in later 2014 and then potentially to subsidize fee-payers of the merged entity.  We submit that the appropriate regulatory treatment is to clear the entire FVDA now.

If the OPA requires a higher revenue requirement for 2014, as a result of the merger, or for 2015, if the merger doesn't take place on January 1, it is entitled to seek a higher revenue requirement.  It elected not to do so.  In seeking a higher revenue requirement, the OPA should expressly set out in the business plan approved by the Minister what are the drivers of the increased revenue requirement.

Now, in that context, it is important to know -- and as BOMA has already referred you to -- that -- and this is just for reference.  It's in paragraph 20 of the OPA's application, and it's referring to the Minister's letter with respect to the business plan.  The Minister specifically said -- and I'm just quoting:

"I am encouraged that the OPA intends to rebate approximately 25 million of its cumulative surplus to ratepayers."

So when the Minister approved the budget, the assumption was that it would be a $25 million refund.

The one other point that we would just reiterate is that the revenue requirement that the OPA seeks is 60.3 million.  If they are entitled to retain the 15 million to use it for the merger, in effect, the revenue requirement is not going to be 60.3 million for 2014, but if they spend all of the 15 million it's going to be just over 75 million.

And so this is not an insignificant -- this is not a de minimis rounding error.  15 million of 60 is 25 percent of the entire revenue requirement.

And so in our submission, the OPA's request to retain 15 million, or the equivalent of 25 percent of its applied-for revenue requirement in the FVDA for merger costs, is essentially doing through the back door what it could have done and what it should have done through the front door.  Namely, they should have included these costs in its business plan and its requested revenue requirement.

Now, we appreciate that the timing posed a challenge for the OPA, but in our submission, the fact that the timing of the announcement of the merger made it a challenge to amend the application doesn't provide a justification for essentially increasing the budget by 15 -- a budget of 60 million by 15 million through the accumulation of a variance account, which is the direct result of over-collection for the past three years.

So our position on this is, in short, that the entire amount of the FVDA should be cleared.  Alternatively, only $5 million should be retained, as this is the amount that was expressly included in the budget and which the Minister clearly supported and approved.

And so those are our submissions on what we've described as issue 1.


With respect to issue 2 -- and this -- these submissions are made both on behalf of CME and AMPCO.  Both CME and AMPCO, members of the Board, are concerned, in the same way that Mr. Rubenstein took you through in detail, with the manner in which these amounts will be tracked, both tracked on how they are spent and whether that spending is reasonable, and also how those costs -- the merger costs would be allocated.

And so the two elements are, are they spent reasonably and are they being allocated between the IESO and the OPA, and how that allocation occurs post-merger.  We share similar concerns of those of CME -- or, sorry, of SEC.

And with -- in that regard, what we have tried to do is identify what are ratepayer protections that this Board could put into place to try and ensure that if you elect not to clear the entire FVDA, and if you accept that it is appropriate to retain some or all of the requested 15 million to be spent on merger costs, what are the requirements that you can place on the OPA, which will transfer and flow through to the new entity, that would provide fee-payer protection.

And we view there to be four directives and ratepayer protection mechanisms that could be imposed.  The first is this:  We would encourage you to place a burden on the OPA that all merger costs must be tracked, both before and after the merger, and included in that tracking, the ability to separate which costs were paid from the FVDA and which costs were paid from other funds.

Now, we -- just stopping there, we did -- if you carefully read the transcript, there are places in the transcript where the OPA does suggest that it will track the costs, both before and afterwards, but there are other parts of the transcript where it is not as clear.

And by way of example, at page 10 of the transcript, the witnesses confirm that the OPA and IESO will track and report costs before and after the merger, as reflected in the FVDA, including balances at January 1st, which is the targeted merger date.  But then -- and this is the quote:

"And we expect that the merged organization will continue to do the same."

Now, I have sympathy for an OPA witness because they can't bind the new entity that doesn't exist, so they say -- I mean, they have to couch it with:  We expect.

We submit that the Board does not have to abide by simply saying:  And we expect you to.  You actually have the jurisdiction and the authority to direct the OPA to continue to do so, and we would encourage you to do that.

The second ratepayer protection that we would ask for is that the tracking of the costs, both before and after the merger, will set out a methodology for allocation of the cost between the IESO and OPA.

And, again, we appreciate that the OPA witnesses were not able to set out what the methodology would be, and I think that they were actually candid enough to admit that they weren't entirely sure how they would do it.  But, again, that is a must-have from a fee-payer protection perspective, is that you should direct the OPA that if they use the FVDA funds, they must bring forth a methodology for approval to the Board to allocate the costs between the IESO and the OPA.

The third element -- and it really drives off history -- that if you look, the OPA -- its last fee case related to 2010.  We're now in 2014.  As Mr. Rubenstein took you through this morning, for 2010, 2011, 2012, for two years the OPA elected not to come in, and during that interim they over-collected $33 million.

And so our concern is that, as the entity merges, if they do not bring forth a fee case in which the FVDA can be cleared for two years, three years, four years, five years from now, that we will then be dealing with the clearance of costs or the assessment of the reasonableness of costs that were over-collected in 2010, '11 and '12, but are actually being assessed for reasonableness in 2016 or '17.

That is a very long period of time, and so we would encourage the Panel to direct the OPA that it must bring an application to clear the FVDA no later than September the 1st, 2015.

We picked that time period because it is long enough into the fiscal year of 2015 that the merger will have been completed, but it's a short enough period of time that those costs that were incurred in 2014 and early in 2015 will be known.  They should be, by that point, allocated.  And that then, in a timely manner, we can -- the Board can assess the reasonableness of it, and determine whether it was or was not appropriate for those costs collected in -- three years earlier to be used for that exercise.

The fourth and final ratepayer protection that we would urge the Board to impose is to expressly state the Board's expectation that the application for clearance of the FVDA should include or must include evidence on the reasonableness of the costs spent and on the corresponding benefits that flow from those costs.

And in that regard, we do not think it's unreasonable for the Board to set out its expectations that, to the extent that an over-collection of funds from previous years is used to pay for a merger, that the new entity should have a positive obligation to demonstrate that benefits will flow from the expenditure of those costs.

So those are submissions that are intended to supplement those of SEC.  And subject to any questions which you may have, those are all of our submissions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose, Ms. Grice.  We have no further questions for you.  And thank you for your submissions.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, are you ready to proceed?
Closing Argument by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Just by way of introduction, I've provided a copy of my speaking notes, but just to emphasize, this is only to assist people to follow my pathway and my remarks.  The actual submission will be the verbatim transcript.  So this is to assist you with following, especially if my English accent gets too far out of line.  Okay?  Thank you.

So I'm going to start on -- in the document on page 5, actually.  The other is just background, which I think is important, but nonetheless it's all on record.  And so I'm going to start on page 5, and I'm going to start with an outline of what we intend to address in this submission.

We're going to talk about the outstanding issues that are based on OPA's updated evidence.

And we can start by saying a full procedural review of the OPA 2014 fees application has occurred, including interrogatories, settlement conference, and an oral hearing.  Based on these prior steps, we will structure our submissions to address what we believe are the outstanding issues.

So first of all, the first issue is the 2014 revenue requirement of 60.3 million and associated usage fees of 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour.

The next issue is the forecast variance deferral account and the 2013 balance disposition, and there are some sub-issues, as others have addressed.

The use of the balance for 2014 contingency purposes, that was requested of 5 million.  The use of the FVDA to fund the IESO merger costs are estimated to be 15 million, and tracking and reporting of all such costs for both OPA and IESO, if -- and I emphasize -- if the use of the FVDA is approved.

Finally, we will go to a couple of items, the proposed registration fees deferral account, and then follow up on some Board direction, suggestions from prior cases as these relate to performance metrics and stakeholder engagement.

So coming to the 2014 revenue requirement, Energy Probe has reviewed the OPA fees submission and proposed 2014 revenue requirements of 60.3 million and associated fee of 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour.

And based on this discovery, Energy Probe has no issues with the as-filed OPA application and evidence regarding the 2014 revenue requirement.

We do have issues, as I noted, regarding the updated application and evidence on deferral accounts and responses to the OEB's suggestions in past cases regarding metrics and stakeholder engagement, so we'll move now to the first topic, which is the forecast variance deferral account two-thirteen balance and its disposition.


So first of all, we are going to talk about the original request, and that was to use the FVDA balance for two-fourteen operating contingency, and that was an estimated 5 million.


So OPA as-filed request was for the continued use of the FVDA as a contingency for unforeseen operating costs and to retain a balance of 5 million, with a balance then of 28.788, my calculation, being rebated to ratepayers.


This was also noted as being an appropriate matter to do in the Minister's letter of January 29th, approving the business plan for OPA.


This request has not been explicitly amended, but now seems to have come in and be merged into the larger updated request to retain 15 million, mainly for contingency, but also importantly, as you know, merger costs.


So Ms. Kosic on the record confirms this.  She says at transcript volume 2, page 14:

"The 5 million was originally requested as appropriate to assist the OPA in managing the volatility in spending driven by changes in the volume of activities and external factors."

And also, Mr. Cass clarifies it on the transcript as well.  He says:

"It may not have been precisely in the forecast variance deferral account in previous proceedings.  It may just have been a contingency included in the budget.  But one way or another there was a contingency allowed for the OPA.  It may not just have been through that account.  It may just have been a contingency in the budget."

So that's at transcript volume 2, page 15, lines 7 to 21.


So with respect to this exchange with Mr. Rubenstein, it was -- deals with the contingency aspects of the account.  It is suggested that the forecast variance account seems to have come into two components.  It has evolved into two components.


The first one was, as Mr. Brett brought to your attention, to address changes to the forecast revenue from the OPA fee, which is based on terawatt hours of energy delivered to Ontario power users times the rate per megawatt-hour.


For example, the two-fourteen fee that's before you is 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour based on an IESO two-fourteen forecast of 137.4 terawatt hours of provincial power consumption.


So the point is that if that varies, then what happens to the revenue or non -- revenue forgone or the revenue that was not generated.


Now, the other use that's then become practice of OPA is to net out any extra expenses due to unforeseen expenses that occur, for example, from Minister's directives and so on, to net those out.  That has become a practice, and that's the contingency aspect of how the account has come to be used, even though, as Mr. Brett has pointed out to you, that is not explicitly written out in the original approval of that account, but it's happened.  That is the practice, and therefore, at this point I'm not suggesting the practice is inappropriate or anything else.


Mr. Cass referred to the original approval, and as I said, Mr. Brett has provided you a copy.  He talks about the letter, requesting the account, and it says:

"To capture revenue variances for disposition in the two-oh-eight..."

And because this was written in two-oh-seven:

"...revenue-requirement submission."

And that's at transcript volume 2, page 115, lines 18 to 28.


Accordingly, in our view, this position -- this clearly positions the account as a regulatory revenue variance account, rather than just a deferral account, even though the period balances are deferred to a future point, but it is a variance based on changes in revenue, the revenue forecast.


With regard to the operating expenses then the OPA has used the FVDA to net out normal course of business expenses that are over- or under-forecast for various reasons, so that has become the practice.  And it seems to have become accepted.


So the prior practice has been then that at the year end, as it's shown in the Undertaking J2.1, in balancing its books, OPA takes the difference between the actual revenues generated and the actual expenses, and in doing so the difference is recorded plus or minus as an amount in the account.  That's been the practice.  And I think if you read J2.1 and the way of contingency, that's the way it's become used.


And so that's fine, and that's where we are right now.  So as to the two-thirteen FVDA balance, OPA indicates that this came as a result of usage fees -- i.e., revenues -- being higher than forecast, together with netting out of this over-/under-spending relative to the approved revenue requirement, and that's shown, I believe, in Undertaking J1.2, and we'll come back to this a little later.


However, what is not clear to Energy Probe is how the interest on the account was calculated, and why, and how this was "refunded" to ratepayers over the last three, four years, and that's Undertaking J1.2, even though the account has actually not been cleared in that time.


I put it to you that standard regulatory practice is that variance and deferral account balances are reviewed prior to the regulator ordering disposition.  That includes the calculation of interest at approved rates.


So I'll leave that point that has -- that is an issue around the clearance.


Now, OPA also indicates that -- as regards two-fourteen, and we asked questions about, do we need to have a contingency in two-fourteen with respect to the core operations as an expectation that it will finalize the year on-track relative to budget.


So there is no apparent need for the contingencies for core operations.  And if you look at the transcript, volume 2, page 16, line 9, that's where that particular point is made.


So there doesn't seem to be any need for contingency in two-fourteen, based on OPA's evidence, although it was part of the original request.


So now I come to the core here, and that it the use of the FVDA to fund the IESO-OPA merger cost estimated to be 15 million.


In its application update, OPA has requested what we think is a third use.  I've already talked about the two uses to which the FVDA has been used in the past:  Changes in revenue and also changes in expenses.  But it's coming now and saying, We want to use this account for a third purpose, and that is to fund the costs of the IESO-OPA merger, which we believe -- and we think OPA also agrees with the view that these costs are not in the normal course of business.


The OPA's request raises concerns whether it is appropriate to use the surplus ratepayer usage-fee funds for such a purpose, and if the request is appropriately framed, with the appropriate safeguards within the Electricity Act and the OEB Act and its objectives.


In our view, OPA is now attempting to broaden the scope of the account to deal with costs out of the scope of normal business -- i.e. merger costs -- and that OPA has no authority to do so.


Mr. Cass addresses this issue:

"So, you know, to the extent that there is an issue about the scope of the account, what it's established to cover is...broad enough to capture a difference between cost and revenues..."

We've already discussed that.

"...such as what's being talked about in the current case."

And that's at transcript volume 2, lines -- page 117, lines 1 to 6.


So Mr. Cass relies on the Board's general practice and authority regarding deferral accounts.  And he says:

"So then coming back to my discussion of the authority of the Board, again in my submission, the Board has the authority to say that none of this money goes back, some of it goes back, or all of it goes back."

And that's at the transcript volume 2, page 119, lines 22 to 27.


Now, Energy Probe believes usage fees are designed to recover OPA legitimate, normal course-of-business operating costs for the services OPA provides, as set out in its business plan.


Clearly, such an IESO/OPA merger and its costs do not fall in the ambit of normal operations.  It embroils another entity, the IESO, that, although it's here as an intervenor, is not before the Board, but whose costs are to be covered under the 15 million request.


We consider that the record in this case probably indicates that the Board has no jurisdiction under this application to order the IESO or place any enforceable conditions on the IESO until the merger is complete, and a 2015 fees application of IESO and OPA are before the Board.


It can be argued by the applicant that ratepayers should -- and in any event, will -- cover the costs of the proposed merger, and the benefit in future will flow by streamlined operations and lower usage fees of the merged entity.


If that's the case, then, as in the past, as I will allude to later, there should have been special provisions to allow for that provision.


So I'll just briefly touch on legislative authority arguments.  So we're not represented by counsel, so I'll go very carefully on this.


Counsel for OPA has invoked the proposed merger legislation to address the question of whether the Board can bind the IESO in this matter.  And he references this at the transcript volume 2, page 123, lines 16 to 26.  And we'll leave it to legal counsel, have they already done so, to argue this point, but just to express the point that this is of great concern to the ratepayers, fee-payers.


The other thing that OPA cites as a precedent -- and this has been raised again -- is the initial cost of setting up the OPA in 2005.  This was provided to us in Undertaking J1.1, page 2, and it, in essence, says that the activities in 2005 were funded by a transfer of 15 million in seed money from the surplus operating reserves of the Independent Electricity System Operator.  It is kind of ironic.  It's going the other way this time.


So basically the point is that was provided for in detail in the act and by the Minister in setting up the OPA.


We don't have such a direction to use 15 million of the FVDA or any other funds of OPA for this merger in this case.  So regardless of precedent, absent a Minister's letter or a directive regarding the merger costs, Energy Probe suggests that OPA's request to use 15 million of ratepayers' money to finance the merger is inappropriate and out of order.


And the reasons for stating this include that under the current application, as amended, the Board would not normally order such out-of-normal course-of-business costs related to the IESO and OPA, to be made -- to be paid out of the OPA FVDA.


As others have said, this request should have been an add-on to the revenue requirement submission, supported by appropriate evidence.


It is also not part of the business plan approved by the Minister, which underpins the whole of the application for 2014 fees.


Further, we suggest it's not appropriate for OPA to request such an order from the Board, without having set out appropriate financial safeguards and protection of ratepayer interests -- Mr. DeRose addressed this -- including proper regulatory accounting, and, importantly, a clear statement from IESO that it will be bound by any such order and conditions.


Another factor that bears on this issue is that if the OPA had filed a fee submission for 2013 or any other prior year, the balance in the FVDA would have been reduced following its disposition at that time.  We'll address this later under ratepayer engagement.


Accordingly, it's our view that it's due to serendipity and other factors that have combined to provide OPA and IESO a source of readily available ratepayer funds to fund the proposed merger.


We suggest that the null hypothesis is that, leaving aside any legal issues regarding jurisdiction, such as a Minister's directive, the costs of the merger would have been and should still be financed outside of the FVDA, either by an amended 2014 revenue requirement application with a Minister's approved business plan -- and there is a timing issue that we are all quite aware of -- or by OPA and IESO borrowing the funds from available sources, such as the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation.


And another important point is that by using external financing, this would also deal with the other issue of the appropriate third-party review and accounting of the costs, and therefore relieve the Board of the unreasonable onus that OPA has now placed on the Board arising from dealing with accounting for the funds.


It should be OPA's responsibility to discharge this onus, and in our view it has not done so.


Mr. Cass addresses this issue, that in the event that the Board did not approve the application -- I just throw out the practical observation that if that occurs, the interim fee will continue, which I think is a tenth of a cent difference.  The account will continue and it will still be there.  The OPA will need to go back for further consideration and file a new case with the Board.


We're not suggesting that that is an appropriate or practical approach.  However, we note these points.


Energy Probe that submits that with respect to merger costs, OPA had some options.  One was to request a Minister's letter regarding the merger costs and direction.  Another one was to file a specific request for a new deferral account, an accounting order for out-of-normal business merger costs.


It did not obtain either of those or make such a request for an account with supporting evidence.


Therefore, in our view, OPA failed to meet the appropriate onus of proof on an applicant for rates.


One other policy consideration is the incentive to OPA/IESO to keep merger costs as low as possible.

Under the proposed plan both the OPA and IESO receive an interest-free loan, quotes, my quotes, from the OPA FVDA to undertake the merger.

While they argue that this is the cheapest way and practical way to finance the merger, it comes at the expense of past ratepayers, who have overpaid in usage fees since 2012 and will not receive those funds plus interest back as a rebate.

If the organizations had to borrow the funds, then future ratepayers will eventually pay the bill, but by having to borrow that money and make their case in two-fifteen for the necessary rates to recover the legitimate merger costs, will provide a clear signal to keep merger costs as low as possible.

So in sum, on this particular issue, Energy Probe submits that the most reasonable and fair option and approach is for the Board to determine that the OPA's two-fourteen revenue requirement and 60 -- of 60.3 million and usage fee of 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour as filed is appropriate and should be made final, and to issue an order approving it.

But for all of the above reasons OPA should reject the OPA's supplementary request to retain 15 million in the FVDA for merger costs, and since no contingency amount appears to be needed for two-fourteen normal course of business, the Board should direct that the full balance of 33.788 million in the two-thirteen FVDA be rebated to fee-payers and ratepayers.

So I'm now going to provide some submissions on the issue of, should the Board find that the use of the FVDA is appropriate, we have submissions about tracking of costs and protection of ratepayers.

These submissions relate to the scenario that the Board has determined to allow the use of 15 million of FVDA to pay for the IESO-OPA merger costs, so that's the caveat.

With respect to tracking and accounting of costs of the merger, from the record we have on record, it is our view that the OPA has only a conceptual idea as to how this will be done.  Its witnesses are talking about options such as sub-accounts, coding of IESO and OPA costs, and deriving an allocation of costs to the two pools of IESO-OPA ratepayers.

Further, it has no detailed plan as to how it will track and bring forward the savings resulting from the merger and how these will or may not be reflected in the two-fifteen fee submissions of the merged entity.  Mr. DeRose also addressed this issue.

So Ms. Kosic addressed this at the transcript at page 33, at lines 4 to 8, but in terms of tracking and reporting on merger costs -- merger-related costs, sorry, it is our expectation that both costs and savings would be reported in the next proceeding.

And again, at the transcript, page 39, lines 21 to 28, and page 40, lines 1 to 4, so I think we have some guiding principles, and we're developing the guidelines and the details of how the tracking will take place in both organizations.

In essence, OPA is saying to the Board and ratepayers, Give us the 15 million in the FVDA and trust us to account for it, and bring back the result back to the Board in the next fees submission or submissions.


Energy Probe submits that, even setting aside the issue of OPA's authority to use the account for this purpose, which we've addressed, this lack of definition is not acceptable.

Accordingly, it is suggested that, following the Board's decision, OPA be directed to return with a draft rate order that includes an appropriate new merger cost deferral account with details of the tracking and accounting of the merger costs, including how both IESO and OPA costs would be tracked and separated and how the costs will be recovered from the respective rate pools.

Application for clearance of the FVDA in future or new merger account must be timely and should be supported by evidence.

So that's our views on the FVDA.  I'm going to move on now to a short submission on the proposed registration fees deferral account, the new account, that -- called the RFDA.

So in two-fourteen the OPA proposes not to include registration fees in the usage fee calculation because of the claimed uncertainty to have been experiencing regarding registration income.

OPA specifically refers to the fact there had to be a reimbursement of feed-in tariff registration fees in two-oh-twelve and two-thirteen.

Now, OPA has not provided much evidence on this uncertainty of why a new RFDA is required.  In the hearing, OPA indicated that historic year registration fees varied from forecast and so it was necessary to refund fees in two-twelve and two-thirteen.

Ms. Kosic addresses this in -- in response to my questions about materiality and indicates materiality is not a key factor, so it's not a question of materiality, it is a mechanism to highlight that component of our P&L statement, and that references the transcript, volume 2, page 48, lines 8 to 12.

Energy Probe suggests that a small variation in forecast registration fees seems not to be material relative to either the Board's usual requirements for establishing variance accounts and materiality thresholds, which is usually related to the revenue requirement or some other parameter of the application.

However, having expressed our concern about this, since Board Staff have apparently reviewed this request and the Board has approved the two-fourteen RFDA on an interim basis, we won't make any further submissions on this matter.

Now I'd like to follow up on some Board direction, suggestions from prior cases, particularly focusing on performance metrics and stakeholder engagement.

Moving to performance metrics, the main evidentiary reference is Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, and I'm going to pick page 5 here.  And we believe that OPA has made reasonable efforts to develop measures and metrics, including measures and metrics that are activity-based, efficiency-based, and, importantly, effectiveness or value metrics.

However, it is disappointing that after three years of efforts we have the result that is set out under relative metrics of various metrics -- sorry, relative merits of -- metrics -- Mr. Cass addresses it in his argument-in-chief, and I give the quote there.  And the reference for this is the transcript, volume 2, page 134, lines 11 to 28, and page 135, lines 1 to 6.

And Mr. Cass actually references in the reference in the evidence, the same evidence, the point that OPA actually recommended, that the Board might consider some other potential metrics and put those forward.

Well, to Energy Probe it seems to us that either OPA doesn't understand what the various metrics are, therefore what are they -- who are they trying to inform?  Who's important to OPA's progress and metrics?  We believe the audiences should include those invited to the two-eleven metrics meeting:  internal management, the industry, government regulators, ratepayers and other stakeholders.


We suggest that one of the reasons OPA has not drawn this metrics project to successful conclusion is the fact it has not met with many of those stakeholders since 2011.


To come to this Board with 2014 fees approval without a proposed -- focused set of proposed performance metrics or a scorecard is a disappointing result, and in our view does not respond appropriately to the Board's suggestions in the last case.


Now, OPA says the Board and ratepayers must wait another year or more for a result that the Board and ratepayers can accept.  We suggest that this is not appropriate, and regrettably reflects how OPA seems to view the OPA and ratepayers.


Mr. Cass summarizes it well at transcript volume 2, pages 135, lines 8 to 18, again:

"The other comment I would make is that given that we all know that there is an upcoming merger, I'm not sure that this case is the right place to somehow find an answer to the unanswerable question... it is something that would best be left for the first case of the new combined entity, given that, you know, a lot of effort and time has gone into this, and it has not produced the sort of ready answer that we all might have liked."


Energy Probe requests that the Board provide clear direction, suggestions to OPA that to return for fees in 2015 without a set of balanced performance metrics, developed in consultation with key stakeholders, should be viewed in a very negative light.


Finally, my last area is stakeholder engagement.  This has been talked about by Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Brett.


My focus is slightly more narrow.  It's on electricity consumers and particularly on ratepayers and fee-payers; in other words, this group that's represented here before the Board.


The facts are clear that since 2011 and the initial meetings on metrics, OPA hasn't met with the fee-payers or ratepayers over the past three years.  In that period, OPA decided it didn't need to come in for fees, even though the fee in place of 0.551 cents is clearly too high, and OPA collected over 33 million in revenue that it didn't need.


This 33.8 net million excess is relative to the 2012-2013 aggregate requirements, the aggregate revenue of 152.2 million.


And the actual expenses, if you look at the business plan and the annual report, were 120 million.  So this corresponds to a fee rate excess surplus of 22 percent.  And that source is the 2013 annual report, page 10, and the business plan, as well as Undertaking J1.2.


In Undertaking J1.1, OPA states:

"It should be noted that the OPA was unable to file its 2012/2013 revenue requirements as it was unable to obtain the Minister's approval of its business plans."

Why this happened and why OPA did not inform the Board and the ratepayers, fee-payers of the situation is also of concern, because apart from charging fee-payers too much in 2012 and 2013, the noted excess fees are the basis of the 15 million request for funding the IESO/OPA merger.


If ratepayers and other stakeholders had been engaged by OPA in 2012 and 2013, we could suggest that an earlier application for reduced usage fees could have been one result.  And, importantly, disposition of the FVDA balance could have been another result.


So we suggest this is what can happen when ratepayer fee-payers are not engaged.


Energy Probe's request that the Board suggest increased ratepayer engagement is important, and very especially with respect to the costs and efficiencies resulting from the merger.


So we have finally reached the conclusion, which you will be very glad to hear.  And I will just point out our recommendations to the Board.


In conclusion, we submit the Board should approve OPA's 2014 revenue requirement and usage fees of 43.9 cents per megawatt-hour, reject the proposed use of the 15 million of ratepayer funds accumulated in the FVDA in 2012 and 2013, as neither -- not an appropriate use of the FVDA in the normal course of business, nor an appropriate source of funding for the IESO/OPA merger.


In support of this position, we submit that OPA has neither provided authority for this use of the FVDA, nor provided the evidence required to establish a merger cost deferral account and the proposed accounting for this account.


We have made some suggestions how to address these deficiencies, should the Board determine that the use of the FVDA balance in the account is appropriate.


As to the matters raised in the last Board decision, Energy Probe is extremely disappointed that the OPA's metrics development project has not resulted in a conclusion.


In our view, this is in part due to lack of stakeholder interaction since 2011.  We hope the Board will strongly suggest that this deficiency be remedied by a full set of performance metrics and scorecard in the next fee submission.


As to the matter of the broader stakeholder engagement, we point out the result of OPA's failure to engage ratepayers -- in particular, over the last two years -- has been collection of excess usage fees that are 22 percent in excess of OPA requirements for 2012 and 2013 fiscal years.  And in turn, this has led to the 33.8 million balance in the FVDA.


So thank you both for your attention and for an opportunity to provide these submissions on behalf of Energy Probe.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Dr. Higgin, I don't think we marked your compendium as an exhibit.  So it should be K3, I think?

EXHIBIT NO. K3: ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's correct, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, are you prepared to proceed?

Closing Argument by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.


I am indebted to my fellow intervenors with respect to the submissions they have been making in relation to argument on this -- in this proceeding, and in particular Dr. Higgin and SEC earlier in the day.  So I won't try to repeat a lot of these points that have been made.


First of all, like many parties here, we accept the revenue requirement of OPA of 60.3 million and the usage fees that are associated with that.  Our focus has been, as most of the parties here, have focused upon the forecast deferral variance account, the FVDA.


In particular, we note and adopt the submissions of Dr. Higgin with respect to his recount of the history of the use of that account up to this point in time.  And in particular, with respect to dealing with revenue or expense variances, that has been the course of business and the way in which that account has been used.  And as well, he notes that the original purpose set out in the application which was for contingency has since evaporated, so effectively what we have before you is a $15 million proposal to use this account to meet anticipated merger costs.


One of the things that we wish to look at, just prior to engaging on the actual facts and merits of this case, is how potentially, in other jurisdictions, are merger costs treated, particularly in circumstances where there is private ownership of utilities, and to that extent we have two cases that we've presented, and I believe the copies of which are before the panel, one being Illinois American Water Company v. Illinois Commerce Commission, a decision of the Appellate Court of Illinois in the Third District, 2001.

I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  The first one, the Illinois American decision, will be K4.
EXHIBIT NO. K4:  ILLINOIS AMERICAN WATER COMPANY V. ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION, A DECISION OF THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS IN THE THIRD DISTRICT, 2001.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The second one, which is NV Energy case, will be K5.
EXHIBIT NO. K5:  NV ENERGY CASE.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  And the second one is a decision of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission of November the 26th, 2013.  And these cases are being put forward not so much to the idea that they govern what is before you today, but to illustrate the approach of other jurisdictions with respect to the principles associated with the allocation of merger costs.

And on the first one, K4, the appellant water company sought a review of an order which granted the water company's merger with a subsidiary but disallowed them from recovering the cost of the merger from ratepayers.

And on page 4 of that decision, the court noted in the SPC -- at the top of the page, the SPC Communications in GTE, that:

"The Commission distinguished between operational and transactional costs associated with the merger and stated that the former and not the latter is recovered by the ratepayers.  Transactional costs are those costs and expenses which are incurred in connection with the merger."

A little further down:

"Operational costs are those which are directly associated with the utility's provision of services."

And further:

"In the words of the Commission, it is the stockholders that should pay for the business end of the deal, not the ratepayers."

Further down, the court notes, about three-quarters down the page:

"We cannot say that this distinction between operational and transactional costs is unreasonable.  We agree that ratepayers should only be responsible for those costs which are directly related to the utility's provision of service."

In K.5, the decision of the Federal Regulatory Commission involving Nevada Energy, Sierra Pacific Power Company, and Nevada Power Company, there is -- I have omitted a lengthy part of the decision that deals with the merits of whether or not the merger should proceed or not in the competition principles and the like.

And what I wanted to deal with is on page 16 of the decision, at the bottom of the page, noting that:

"And with respect to their application, that the applicants commit for a period of five years to hold transmission and wholesale customers harmless from transaction-related costs, which we have interpreted to include all merger-related costs, including costs related to consummating the proposed transaction and merger costs incurred to integrate and achieve synergies.  Although the applicants have not explained the nature, amount, or accounting for the merger-related costs, subject to hold harmless commitment, the Commission has previously stated that the costs incurred to consummate a merger transaction are non-operating in nature and must be recorded and accounted for, 26.5."

Effectively, the approach in jurisdictions with private-ownership utilities where a merger takes place is that the ordinary assumption is that those merger costs or transaction-related costs flow with the ownership, whereas the ratepayers are only responsible for operating costs.

Now, obviously we have a different situation here.  The public interest has already been decided by the Government of Ontario, and it has decreed in its legislation that a merger is to take place, so much of the discussion in merger-related cases, particularly south of the border, deals with the public-interest aspect of the merger.  That is assumed to be in the cards as far as Ontario is concerned.

However, our legislation is silent with respect to how this merger is to be funded.  And what has been brought to bear by the applicant in this case is hardly reassuring.  In J1.1, a matter that was touched upon by my friend, Dr. Higgin, notes that the OPA was initially funded by $15 million advanced by IESO.

That's not all that helpful.  That amount was repaid by ratepayers, and it really has no application to the current situation before us, and there is no real comfort from the OPA itself as to what will happen after the merger in relation to what costs will be attributed and whether or not we will ensure that OPA ratepayers or fee-payers will, in fact, not incur all of the merger-related costs.

If I can just refer you to one example of that on page 76 of the volume 2 transcript.  Answer from Ms. Kosic indicates:

"Yes, certainly, so the $15 million provision is intended to be an allowance to cover all merger costs from both of the originating organizations, as well as any costs incurred once the new entity, the new combined entity, is in place.
"Mr. Brett:  Both for 2014 and 2115?
"Ms. Kosic:  Yes."

So that's hardly reassuring, that in fact even if we accept the proposition that the OPA or OPA fee-payers should be picking up a portion of this cost, it's clear that the 15 million will be addressing costs from both IESO and OPA, and with very little degree of tracking, or at least very little allocation of those costs.

VECC also has a problem with the approach of the OPA to the amounts in the FVDA.  It is true that governments abhor a surplus, much like nature abhors a vacuum, but in our submission, that -- the idea that these expenditures are simply available for -- to fund the proposed merger does not seem to accord with either the objects and powers that are set out in the Electricity Act under section 25.2(1) or the powers in section 25.2(5).

There is no explicit support for this purpose.  In fact, the only section that seems to be of some assistance is 25.2(2), that the business and affairs of the OPA shall be carried on without the purpose of gain, and any profits shall be used by the OPA for the purpose of carrying out its objects.

Well, if you can't find in its objects the idea that you're funding the merger with the IESO, I would suggest that the use of these funds as merger-related costs is not something that is supported by the legislation.

And as Dr. Higgin has so forcefully maintained, it's also out of scope with the normal course of business associated with this account and has no -- it has not had approval with respect to the business plan that also is governing with respect to the affairs of OPA.

So if there are no special provisions that have been provided -- and we would suggest that the ordinary principle that ratepayers and fee-payers should not be responsible for merger costs should be applicable in this case.  We would suggest that the FVDA be clear to the benefit of the fee-payers at the end of this year, and the cost of the merger should be funded in some other fashion.

This is not a proceeding that is -- has been called to figure out how the merger is to be funded.  There are certainly other options that may be available but have not been explored, but in our submission, that we cannot bend and twist the -- both the normal practice and the legislative support for the OPA, to the extent that money in the FVDA is suddenly deemed to be appropriate for use in funding merger costs, and -- by the looks of the transcript quote that I have given you -- being almost the sole banker or funder for those merger costs.

We had other submissions prepared with respect to the provisions that might be necessary to protect ratepayers in the event that the Panel decided that the 15 million was available for merger costs, but my friends in CME and Energy Probe have covered this section so thoroughly that I would simply repeat and adopt their suggestions, which I thought were actually superior to mine, so...

[Laughter]

MR. JANIGAN:  As well, with respect to the stakeholder engagement, we would echo the concerns that have been expressed herein, that the stakeholder engagement to date has been severely lacking.  And we believe, as Energy Probe believes, that it has impeded the work of the OPA in developing workable performance metrics, and in fact is -- requires, we believe, further direction of the Board to the effect that stakeholder engagement is an important part of developing a workable plan.

Thank you, Panel.  Those are the submissions of VECC in this proceeding, in argument.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

Mr. Pye, I understand the IESO has no submissions to make; is that correct?

MR. PYE:  That's correct, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Board Staff?
Closing Argument by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we have some submissions.  We have about 10 minutes, so...

Board Staff's submission is premised on the view that, according to the legislation, the Board basically has two options.  It can approve the application as filed, or send it back to the OPA for further consideration with the Board's recommendations.

The Electricity Act of 1998, section 25.21(2), sets this out specifically, and states:

"The Board may approve the proposed requirements and the proposed fees or may refer them back to the OPA for further consideration with the Board's recommendations."

Hence, in Staff's view, the Board, as I've said, can either approve the proposed fees as submitted in the revised revenue requirement submission, or refer them back to the OPA, but it cannot approve the OPA fees on any basis other than as filed with the Board.

Hence, for example, some submissions by intervenors said -- suggested perhaps the Board can approve the application in its original form, which requested $5 million for merger costs payable out of the FVDA.

In Board Staff's submission, that is no longer an option because that is not the application as filed in its most current version.

Accordingly, if the Board does not consider it appropriate to approve the fees as submitted in the revised application, as indicated, the Board can send the application back to the OPA/IESO to provide more details on the costs in 2014 for the merger, and how they will be recovered from customers.

All parties have indicated some concerns as to the lack of information about how the OPA -- the costs that the -- the type of costs the OPA foresees and how it proposes to deal with them from the FVDA.

As we've heard, the OPA has said that the $15 million will be for merger costs for both the IESO and OPA.  However, in Staff's view, the OPA fees and IESO fees are recovered from different payer groups.  Therefore recovering both of them from the OPA's fund would not be appropriate -- or from the OPA's account is not appropriate.

Furthermore, Board Staff agrees with intervenors that here needs to be appropriate allocation of merger costs between the OPA and IESO, and that only the OPA's costs can be paid from the FVDA.

The OPA has given evidence that both it and the IESO will track their merger costs separately, but no evidence has been given that the merger costs of the IESO would be paid for from any source other than the OPA's FVDA account.

As indicated, the details on what the $15 million will be used for is extremely limited.

If the Board declines to approve the OPA's application and refer it back with recommendations, Board Staff submits that the OPA should be required to refile the application, although likely with better evidence, forecasting the impact of the merger.

We realize that such an application would likely be made by the merged entity, the IESO.

In the meantime, in the event -- and again, in the event that the Board refers the application back with comments, we submit that the Board can approve that the OPA continue to charge its current fees and interim fees, which are not materially different from the applied-for fees.  And the difference between the status quo interim fees and the ultimate final fees can be recorded in a variance account for later disposition.

If the Panel agrees that it should allow the merger costs to be paid from the FVDA account -- and I'll address some -- some specific submissions on that point further on -- then Staff submits that a sub-account should be established to track the merger costs.

Now, the second option, as we indicated, that the Board has, other than referring the submission back with recommendations, is to approve it as filed, with the $15 million merger costs paid out of the FVDA.  However, Board Staff submits that should be with conditions.

Firstly, the 50 million should relate to the OPA's portion of merger costs only.

And secondly, the merger cost should be recorded in a sub-account of the existing variance account.

The Board would then review the reasonableness of these costs at the time that the variance account is cleared.

As between the two options set out above -- that is, referring the application back to the OPA or accepting the submission with conditions -- Board Staff submits that the preferable option is the second one.  That is, accepting the submission, which includes funding the OPA's, and only the OPA's, 2014 merger costs in the FVDA, with conditions.

Board Staff does not agree with the -- some of the intervenors' arguments and positions to the effect that the Board does not have authority to approve merger costs out of the FVDA.

The Electricity Act states, in section 25.20(1), that:

"The OPA may establish and impose fees and charges to recover, a) the costs of doing anything the OPA is required or permitted to do under this or any other Act.  And b) any other type of expenditure the recovery of which is permitted by regulations, subject to any limitations and restrictions set out in the regulations."

In Staff's view, this section provides the OPA its entitlement to recover the merger costs through fees and charges.  As the section clearly states, the OPA is entitled to impose fees and charges for anything that it is required or permitted to do under this or any other Act.  Of course, the Act that is applicable in this case is Bill 75, an act of the legislature.  Hence, in Board Staff's view, there is no question that the OPA is entitled to impose fees and charges to recover merger costs, since a merger is required by legislation.

The question is whether it can or should be recovered from a deferral account or through revenue requirement.

In Board Staff's view, the Board could approve a deferral account to capture merger costs, just as it had when it established the FVDA in the 2007 decision.

In that decision, which created the FVDA, the Board recognized that the OPA's revenue requirement is approved on a forecast basis, and that variances between revenue and forecasts are anticipated.

In Staff's view, the merger costs were an unanticipated cost for the OPA.  While the prospect of a merger between the OPA and IESO has been in the air for some time, it was only in 2014 that the effective date was announced.

It is also apparent from this proceeding that the costs also cannot be accurately quantified in advance.  The original filing estimate of $5 million, which was then revised to 50 million for both OPA and IESO, and as we heard at the oral hearing, the costs could be more.

The OPA's 2014 fees decision issued in December of 2013 -- that's EB-2013-0326 -- did not include any amount for merger costs, because no -- there is no definitive announcement at the time, so there is no allowance in the OPA budget for those costs, and now there needs to be.

Clearly there is a variance between the OPA's 2014 fees and costs -- sorry, between its costs and revenues, and in Staff's views it would be appropriate for these costs to be captured in a deferral account for later recovery, and the Board does have the authority to establish such an account.

However, the OPA has not applied to create a new deferral account for later recovery.  That approach would have required it to obtain funds from elsewhere, track expenditures in a deferral account, and then later on recover the expenditures by disposing of the deferral account.

The OPA has indicated that for "pragmatic reasons" it seeks to fund merger costs from the FVDA rather than borrowing money and then later recovering it from ratepayers.

A couple comments about the FVDA.  That account was established in the Board's decision in EB-2006-0233 to track variances between costs and revenues of the OPA in 2006 and 7, and was supposed to be disposed in its 2008 revenue-requirement submission.

Hence, the reason for which the FVDA was established is consistent in principle with the purpose for some of the costs which the OPA is seeking to use now; that is, variance between costs and revenues of the OPA, but not the IESO's costs.

The FVDA was supposed to have been disposed in the OPA's 2008 revenue-requirement submission, but has not been brought until -- for disposition before 2010.

As other parties have indicated, that OPA had used the FVDA to net out its revenue requirement, and we are at a point, in any event, where the FVDA has a balance that has been accumulating up to and including 2013 in the amount of over $33 million.

In Staff's view, the account has already been used for a purpose other than the original reason for which it was created, by virtue of it being continued year after year and accumulating balance without complete disposition.

It would not be completely inappropriate for the account to also be used to fund a difference between the OPA costs and revenues up to the end of 2014, which would include the OPA's merger cost.

Again, all of this is subject to the account being reviewed by the Board at a later date for reasonableness, proper tracking, and allocation of costs, as well as the ratepayer protection measures that have been proposed by CME in particular.

As to whether the Board has the authority to approve the revenue-requirement submission as filed, but also impose conditions for tracking and allocating merger costs, Staff submits that the Board does have the authority to impose conditions and give directions, which would also be binding on the new IESO entity.

The OPA has chosen to make an application whereby merger costs would be funded out of the FVDA account, which the Board may approve, but if it does so, it should add conditions to protect the interests of consumers, consistent with the Board's statutory objectives set out in section 1 of the OEB Act.

Staff also notes that in its previous decision in EB-2010-0279 the Board approved the applied-for revenue requirement but also directed metrics and milestones -- in other words, conditions and directions -- and indicated -- and in doing so the Board was expanding the issues that are traditionally considered in an OPA fees case, but that it was necessary and legitimate to do so.

And if I may, I will just read a brief excerpt from that 2011 fees case.  It starts at the bottom of page 8, under "Board findings":

"For the purposes of considering the fiscal 2011 proposed expenditure and revenue-requirement fees application by the OPA, the Board expanded the scope of the issues that had traditionally been considered for the purpose of which was to recognize, as set out above, that the OPA's administrative and non-administrative activities that are funded by fees and charges respectively are unavoidably linked...  An assessment of the performance of the OPA's charge-funded activities is necessary, legitimate, and a reasonable tool for determining the effectiveness of the OPA's utilization of its Board-approved fees."

Board Staff submits that if this Panel decides that merger costs may be paid out of the FVDA, it should also include conditions and directions as to how the OPA deals with the costs going through this account, as the two matters are inevitably intertwined.

In Staff's view the Board has the authority to do so, and as the panel stated in the earlier decision, it is "necessary, legitimate, and reasonable to do so".

Those are my submissions with respect to the FVDA account.  The other submissions were exhaustively addressed by the intervenors.  Board Staff does generally agree with the submissions of intervenors, which require the OPA to create performance metrics for its various functions, and which will continue with the merged entity.

This was also clearly stated by the Board in its July 2011 decision, and the Board should consider making those conditions and directions in its decision as well.

Those are our submissions, subject to any questions the Panel may have.

MS. LONG:  We do have some questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Could you just clarify, if you look at -- I just want to make sure I completely understand Board Staff's position on this issue.  If you look at section 25.2(1) of the Electricity Act, I think your submission was that, under subsection 2, that the Board can either approve the revised application as put before us, including the retention of $15 million in the FVDA and the proposed fees and revenue requirements, or we can reject the entire thing and send it back with our suggestions.

Is that -- is that your -- the Board Staff's position?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, that is Staff's position.

MS. SPOEL:  And so when you're saying that, what you're suggesting, I assume -- and maybe you can just confirm this -- is that in subsection 1, where it says "its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for the fiscal year", that that includes the disposition or otherwise of any variance accounts?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  As the --


MS. SPOEL:  Is that the necessary implication of Board Staff's position?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It is.  As we've indicated, the merger costs are an expenditure and a revenue requirement that the OPA would have to require either through a revised revenue submission or, as has been suggested in this case, to fund it from the FVDA account.  We don't see any restriction on what that FVDA account may be used for, and it's -- there is an issue of efficiency and simplicity, in that, you know, certainly we could -- you know, the Board could dispose $33 million back to ratepayers and then set up a new account to collect 50 million or whatever amount.

MS. SPOEL:  Could I just bring you back to my question?  Because I under -- I mean, I just want to get -- make sure I understand clearly your position with respect to the legal -- because you said we had a legal duty under section -- we only had two options under subsection 2, which is to approve it as presented or reject it and -- well, and send it back with suggestions in its entirety, and I just want to make sure that I under -- that you -- I'm not talking about practicality and simplicity.  I'm asking you about the legal ramifications only, that you're saying that the proposal to retain $15 million in the FVDA is part and parcel and inextricably entwined with the proposed expenditure and revenue requirements referred to under section 25.2(1).

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is Staff's view and position.  We realize, you know, SEC, for example, said you can approve the fees application, but --


MS. SPOEL:  So I understand other --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- (inaudible) we don't see that, so --


MS. SPOEL:  -- I understand that other parties have taken a different position.  I just want to make sure I understand that that's where -- that that is inextricably, in Staff's view and submission, inextricably part of the proposed expenditure revenue requirement referred to in 25.21.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  And it would be the same thing with any other deferral and variance account that they might or might not be clearing this year, that that is an initiative inextricable part of it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Other deferral accounts, I can't comment on.  I mean, the Board would look at them.

But with respect to this particular one -- again, because the exact same amount could have been included in fees or could be going through a deferral account.  And that's the application that's been brought forth.

If the Board approved the -- I think the fees that are being sought here -- well, I think we'd be looking at another application for either more -- increased fees or -- you know, again, I can't speculate what the OPA would do, but it would clearly be inadequate to meet their costs for this year, for the -- that would include the merger costs.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  I had a question with respect to conditions.  You spoke a bit about how, if the application were to be sent back, the Panel could make certain conditions, but are you drawing a distinction between -- I think you also -- part of your submission said that Board Staff's view is that IESO costs are separate and distinct from anything that could be recovered through this account.

So is it Board Staff's position that this Panel could not make a condition that would say we are going to approve a certain amount -- well, I guess what your position is it's the $15 million or nothing; but there could be no condition attached that said:  But this amount must only be used for OPA-designated merger costs?

Do I understand that correctly, that conditions can only be with respect to reporting?  They could not be with respect to the IESO costs?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, Staff's position is definitely that the –- that if any funds are -- any merger costs are funded out of the FVDA account, they can only be in respect of the OPA's cost, you know, whether those costs are 5 or $15 million, or something in between, or more.

So on that point, even, you know -- if the Panel decides to send back the application, then it can do so with recommendations that, you know:  This is what we'd like -- we'd need to see in a revised application, number one.  It is only the OPA's costs.  Or -- and/or, secondly, that the IESO's cost has to be brought in a separate application, perhaps by the merged entity sometime next year, for example.

But the Board, in our view, could also approve the application as filed, and using the FVDA to fund the merger costs, but also impose conditions that this fund -- if you use the -- this fund for merger costs, only the OPA's costs.  And you will track it in some appropriate manner, and that there will be a review, how costs were allocated and so forth.

So in either case, whether, you know, the application is basically rejected and sent back, our view is that the Panel can make those recommendations.

Or if you do accept it, you can impose the conditions on how the fund is handled.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those were our questions.  Thank you.

So those are all the submissions that we have.  What we propose, Mr. Cass, is we are going to take a break for an hour.  Does 2:10 give you enough time?

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  There is a lot here to pull together and try to respond to.  I might even observe there were a number of pieces of paper -- more than pieces of paper, fairly large packages of paper handed to me minutes before we started this morning.  I haven't actually even read them yet.

So no, I'm sorry.  And I do need to get some lunch as well.

MS. LONG:  So do you have a proposal for us?

MR. CASS:  I don't think by submissions, my reply submissions will be long.  It's just the time to pull it together into something that will be coherent for the Board.  I'm just pondering that.

MS. LONG:  Three o'clock?  3:30?  Is that workable for you?

MR. CASS:  Yes, that would be.  Yes.

MS. LONG:  I want to give you enough time.  I mean, to be fair I want to give you enough time, so --


MR. CASS:  Could we say 3:30?  Is that acceptable?

MS. LONG:  3:30?  3:30 is fine.

MR. CASS:  And I'm sure the Board will benefit from my submissions being much more coherent with the time to do that.  I do have a lot to try to pull together.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Then we will adjourn until 3:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:34 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


Mr. Cass, I understand you have about an hour, do you?


MR. CASS:  I hope it will be no more than that, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, we have a 4:30 stop, so if you can make it by 4:30 that would be great.


MR. CASS:  I'll talk very fast.

Reply Argument by Mr. Cass:

Madam Chair, clearly there were quite a number of points arising from intervenor arguments.  As well as that, in my submission, there were a number of areas that required either correction or clarification.


Rather than attempting to deal with every single point or every single correction or clarification, I propose to start off with some basic propositions, at least things that I think are basic propositions, and this will address, I believe, a number of things I heard said during submissions that I feel should be dealt with.


The first piece of proposition I'd like to reiterate, and I believe I did stress this in argument-in-chief, is fundamentally on the issue about the forecast variance deferral account.  What we're dealing with is an issue regarding the clearance of an account, how much should be cleared from the account at this time.


The reason I stress this is, in listening to other arguments, I heard a number of times references to things like approval of merger costs, allocation of merger costs, those sorts of consents.


Whether it was deliberate or not, the implication was that in this proceeding the Board would be doing some such thing, and in my submission the Board's not doing any such thing in this proceeding.


It is not approving merger costs.  It is not allocating merger costs.  It is not doing any of those things.  The OPA has merely put before the Board a proposal for how to clear the forecast variance deferral account.


In relation to that proposal by the OPA, I would like to reiterate again, as I did in argument-in-chief, that the proposal is to retain a contingency amount in the account.  It was said at least a couple of times, or a comment was made at least a couple of times, about a lack of detail on costs.  I think BOMA, for example, said that, and Board Staff may have referred to it as well.


Again, this is a request for a contingency amount, and a contingency amount, by its nature, I would suggest, is something that's lacking that sort of very fine detail that perhaps is being referred to by others in this case.


Of course, the OPA has done its best to provide the information about what the costs will be, but to the extent that there is a lack of detail, that's in the nature of a contingency.


Now, as I listened to the arguments, for a while I thought it was going to be completely overlooked that there has been a contingency amount in the proposal by the OPA from the start.  But as the arguments went on that finally was touched on by some parties.


The concept of retaining a contingency amount in the FVDA in this case is not something that emerged late in the case.  It has been there from the start.  The change was the amount of the contingency, the proposed contingency amount, in the FVDA from $5 million to $15 million.


So again, this is just another basic proposition that I felt was important to reiterate, given some of the submissions that I heard today.


The other aspect of the contingency part that I would like to stress is that the concept of the OPA having a contingency is not a new concept.  Again, I addressed this in argument-in-chief, but I didn't have the details with me at the time.  I was speaking only from memory.


The Board does have the details now in response to an undertaking that was given at the hearing, Undertaking J1.1.  And in J1.1 there is a table showing OPA revenue-requirement submissions that included a contingency, and it is every single submission from the 2006 revenue-requirement submission to the 2010 revenue-requirement submission.  There was a contingency.  So again, this concept of a contingency for the OPA is also not a new concept.


Another point that I endeavoured to make in argument-in-chief was that in relation to this fundamental issue about clearing the account, that the Board has a discretion as to how to approach that, and it can choose to clear some, all, or none of the amount in the account.


As far as I know, that hasn't been disputed by anyone.  In fact, I think I heard at least one person confirm that.  So as far as I know, there is no dispute based on the arguments before you today that you have that discretion to approve clearance of some, all, or none of the amount in the account.


Now, how you fulfil that under the statute, of course, is an issue of its own, because the statute does provide for the Board to send the matter back with its recommendations to the OPA if doesn't see fit to approve the proposal as put forward by the OPA.


That part of it is an issue about how to proceed in the case of the OPA, but at the general level of how to clear a deferral account, there is not a restriction on the Board that says you must clear it at all or you can't clear any of it or you're not allowed to clear some of it.  There is no such thing.


Now, another proposition I heard a number of times through arguments -- it was put different ways -- was that the OPA has somehow either decided, or I also heard the word "elected" a number of times, not to come in, so to speak, for a fees approval for a number of years.


Section 25.21, subsection 1 of the Electricity Act is clear.  It says that the OPA shall not apply, shall not make its revenue-requirement submission to the Board, until the Minister approves or is deemed to approve the business plan.


The record in this case is clear that the OPA did not ever get either the approval or the deemed approval of the business plan until it proceeded with this particular application.  It is not a matter of the OPA electing or deciding something at all.


Still on the subject of some basic propositions, I wanted to address the purpose of the forecast variance deferral account, because there seemed to be some uncertainty around that.


In my submission, the record is clear from the start that the purpose of the account is to capture revenue and cost variances.  So Exhibit K2 that was marked today includes a filing that the OPA made in connection with the establishment of the account.  That's Exhibit K2.  And I'm looking at the third page in, which has the heading on it "forecast variances".


And at paragraph 4 of that page there is an indication that the IESO has an account to capture cost or revenue variances from forecasts.  There is a proposal by the OPA that this account we're now talking about would capture revenue variances, which seems to have got us taken a little bit in the direction that it's just a revenue variance account, but if one were to read further, it goes on and very clearly says:

"If the cost variance between actual 2006 expenses and the Board-approved revenue requirement for 2006 is not incorporated into the OPA's 2007 revenue requirement, the OPA propose that this variance also be recorded in the 2007 FVDA or such other deferral account as may be approved by the Board."

So there was the notion of a revenue variance account.  There was also the notion that it would become a revenue and cost variance account, depending on how the Board chose to deal with the cost variance that existed at that time, and in the Board's order -- I may have referred to this in my argument-in-chief -- paragraph 6 of the order arising from that case, the Board accepted the notion that it would be the account to capture the revenues and the costs, not just the revenue variance account.


So today we heard various comments, one to the effect that there's nothing -- that costs outside the normal course of business, I think was the wording, are somehow not appropriate for the FVDA.  And another use of terminology was "core operations."  There was an implication that somehow the account is limited to costs for the OPA's core operations.

There is no such limitation on the account.  The account, from the beginning, has been established to capture revenue and cost variances.  There's nothing to suggest that there is some test or limitation based on normal course of business cost or core operations.  And more particularly, there is nothing to suggest that if the OPA has to incur costs to comply with its governing legislation, the Electricity Act, that somehow those fall outside an account that is there to capture costs and revenue variances.


That's a proposition that, in my submission, just doesn't stand.  If the OPA has to incur costs to comply with its governing statute, it has an account to capture costs and revenue variances, and that's the appropriate place for the cost to be recorded.

I also wanted to address, if I could, another section of the Electricity Act.  Sorry, I've -- I find the sections a little confusing, because there's section 25.2 and there is section 25(2) and various combinations of that.  But to be as particular as I can, I'm referring here to section 25.2(2).

This was mentioned by Mr. Janigan in his argument.  And before I come to Mr. Janigan's argument, I just want to ask the Board to look a little more closely at the words of section 25.2(2).

This is the section that says:

"The business and affairs of the OPA shall be carried on without the purpose of gain and any profits that shall be used by the OPA for the purpose of carrying out its objects."

Before coming to Mr. Janigan's argument, I would just like to put out the obvious proposition that this section is really quite contrary to the intervenor section that the automatic response by the Board to clearance of the forecast variance deferral account should be to return it to ratepayers.

This section is actually saying that profits of the OPA should be used for the purpose of carrying out its objects.  It doesn't say anything about a refund to ratepayers of so-called profits earned by the OPA.

To the extent that money is needed to carry out the objects of the OPA, this section is explicit that the money should be used for that purpose, not refunded to ratepayers.

So then to come to Mr. Janigan's point, his point related to the objects in section 25.2(1), as I understood it.  And as I understood his argument, he was looking at all the subparagraphs of 25.2(1) and saying:  Well, we don't see merger costs in there, so that can't be within the objects of the OPA.

I would submit, Madam Chair, that that is far too narrow an interpretation of these provisions.  (2) of the section is talking about profits being used for the purpose of carrying out its objects.  So the (1), with the objects, it clearly doesn't set out every activity that the OPA might do to fulfil these objects.  It doesn't mention, for example, having the appropriate IT support, having the appropriate human resources support, all these sorts of things that are needed to carry out the objects.

Surely, though, no one would doubt that those costs that are incurred for the purpose of carrying out the objects are included, even though they are not specifically referred to in 25.2(1).

I would say the same thing about the merger.  This very statute that contains these objects and this provision, (2), has been amended to require an amalgamation of the OPA and IESO.  In order to carry out its objects, the OPA has no choice but to complete this amalgamation required by this very statute.  The OPA cannot proceed to fulfil any of these objects if were to ignore or not incur the costs of the amalgamation requirement that is in the statute.

So in my submission, this section, if anything, is indicating that to the extent that there's money in the account that is needed for the purpose of something that would enable the OPA to carry out its objects, the money should be used for that purpose.  It should not be refunded to ratepayers.

Just as another sort of preliminary observation before I come to some of these specific arguments, I would ask the Board also to think a little bit about the -- essentially the impossibility of the OPA attempting to comply with all of the expectations of intervenors that you've heard referred to in arguments today.  I'll give you one example, just so that you can have a sense of what I'm talking about here, because I realize that, on its own, that was maybe a bit of a cryptic statement.

My example is -- starts with the notion of a consultation on targets, metrics, milestones, whatever one wants to call them.

BOMA's submission on this was that there should be a 12- to 18-month funded consultation on this subject.  I'm not sure, in the case of BOMA, whether one would properly call it targets, metrics or milestones.  Whatever the terminology, BOMA said a 12- to 18-month funded consultation.

Energy Probe said that the Board should direct the OPA to return in 2015 with a set of performance metrics developed in consultation with stakeholders.  That's at page 19 of the Energy Probe document.  I'm sorry, I don't have the exhibit number at hand.

So there is already an incompatibility here.  You can't have a 12- to 18-month funded consultation and then have the OPA complete that consultation, put together its evidence and be prepared to file this in 2015 with the Board.

And then in addition to that, we had Schools, for example, concerned about when the IESO is actually going to come forward with this next revenue requirement submission, and is there potentially going to be any delay in that.

Well, again, that's things don't fit together.  The 12- to 18-month consultation in order to develop a set of metrics that the OPA should be directed to file in the next case is not going to be conducive to the IESO getting its next case before the Board in a prompt manner, even assuming that the statute would contemplate any of this sort of process occurring.

So my point is simply to emphasize to the Board that if you put all these propositions together that you heard today, it is essentially impossible for the OPA to meet everybody's expectations.  And I would ask the Board to take that into account when it considers the arguments that it's heard about things like stakeholder consultation and metrics and so on.

I will have some submissions later on about the effort that the OPA has put into these things.  And I did make some submissions in argument-in-chief as well.

A lot of effort has gone into these things, but there is just a difficulty in meeting expectations, especially when they are not necessarily even compatible with each other.

So now I'm going to turn to some of the specific submissions, and I will start with Schools because it was the first party to make submissions.

Schools made a submission that the proposal in respect of the forecast variance deferral account is in some manner -- and I didn't quite capture -- I think it was inconsistent with the scheme of the Board's process.  May also have been tied in with the concept of this being inconsistent with the governing legislation.

Again, this is in part why I emphasize at the outset that fundamentally what the Board is being asked to think about and consider is the clearance of a deferral account.

There is no statutory scheme and there is no required process I know of that says that the FVDA must be cleared in the manner that intervenors are proposing that it should be cleared.

And to the extent that there is any inconsistency, this brings me back to my other preliminary point about section 25.2(2) of the statute.

If there is any inconsistency, it is the position of intervenors, when put up against that section, which seems to contemplate that profits earned by the OPA will be used for the purpose of carrying out the OPA's objects.

So in my submission there is nothing inconsistent between the OPA's proposal for clearance of the FVDA and either the statute or any Board process.

Another proposition expressed by Schools was a concern -- and I have alluded to this already -- about when the merged entity, when the IESO will come forward with its revenue requirement submission, in which context the Board would have some opportunity to look at these merger costs.

I point out, first of all, that this is the same -- as far as I know, this is the same point regardless of where the money comes from.  In other words, whether the money comes from the forecast variance deferral account or whether the OPA is forced to find money from some other source, the timing at which the Board ultimately looks at this I don't think is affected, depending on which source it comes from.

So it's not a concern, in my submission, that relates directly to the issue about keeping the contingency funds in the forecast variance deferral account, but to the extent that the concern about merger costs is addressed with a contingency in the forecast variance deferral account, then the Board does know that there will at some time have to be a case -- a proceeding where the final clearance and closing of that account occurs.

Again, Mr. Rubenstein has the concern about, well, what will the ultimate timing of that be?  I mean, that's something that turns on the statute, and the statute more or less dictates, as I will address in a minute, but aside from the ultimate timing, if the money comes from the forecast variance deferral account, that at least gives the Board the comfort of knowing that it will -- that the clearance -- final clearance and closing of that account will have to be addressed at some time.

And as to the timing, the amending legislation with respect to the IESO's revenue-requirement submission is somewhat similar to the current situation for the OPA.  There's both a -- well, there is a provision in Subsection 1 of section 25 of the amending legislation about the IESO's revenue-requirement submission after the merger, and then in subsection 8 of the same section there is a transitional provision for what's called the initial fiscal year, the IESO's proposed revenue -- or the IESO's revenue-requirement submission in the transitional year.

In either case, it's the same as the situation the OPA is in.  The IESO, according to the words of the statute, shall not submit its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements until after the Minister approves the proposed business plan.  It is the same constraint that has existed before.  It is there in the statute.  It's not something that is directly within the control of the OPA now or the IESO, under the new legislation.  It is determined by when the Minister approves the business plan.

But subject to that constraint, there is a statutory requirement as to when the IESO submits its first revenue-requirement submission, and it's not later than 30 days after the Minister approves the business plan.

So again, the ultimate timing of this case isn't completely within the control of the IESO.  It has the same constraint we've dealt with in the past about the Minister's approval, but the Board will at least know that the final clearance and closing of the forecast variance deferral account will have to happen at some time.

Assuming no issue with the Minister's approval of the IESO's business plan in the transitional year, the application will be 30 days after the approval of the plan.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, I don't want to interrupt your flow, but I don't want to lose my question either.

MR. CASS:  Certainly.

MS. LONG:  You had spoken a bit about profits, I guess, and I'm having trouble with that concept.  Is it profit, really, or is it over-recovery?  And can -- is it the OPA's position that if, you know, if there was something that the OPA needed to do that met the objectives or objects of the legislation, that it could use that money?

MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, I'm not -- I can't say that I'm totally sure what the legislature meant when it used the word "profits" either.  I can say I don't know what other source of revenue the OPA has, other than its fees.  I'm not aware of other sources of revenue.

So to the extent that there is something that one might term a "profit", I don't know where it could come from, other than the fee being in excess of costs.

MS. SPOEL:  I have the same -- I guess I kind of have the same issue.  I mean, don't you have program expenses, and aren't there revenues that come in as a result of those?  I mean, maybe the operating budget -- your operating budget, which is collected through fees, that's a relatively small part --


MR. CASS:  Yes, indeed.

MS. SPOEL:  -- of the OPA's overall fiscal activities, if I can call them that.

MR. CASS:  Indeed.

MS. SPOEL:  So maybe the concept of profits comes from the programs, as opposed to the, like, the operating budget of the administrative side of the OPA, which one would assume would be run on a kind of a -- well, you know, on a revenue-neutral basis, that perhaps the profits come from the fairly large programs, some of which would be in the billions of dollars?  That would make sense --


MR. CASS:  Yeah, whether there are --


MS. SPOEL:  -- to me, I mean -- or put it to you, would it not make sense that if you are procuring large amounts of -- generating -- I don't know, all the various activities the OPA does, that perhaps some of those might generate some profit, which would then go back into those programs, as opposed to worrying -- as opposed to the sort of the relatively small operating budget?  I mean, I'm puzzled how that fits in as well --


MR. CASS:  Yes, it may be -- Ms. Spoel -- I mean, I don't know that the statute gives us any more direction to answer the question.  All I would say is, to the extent that we have any direction at all, it's not telling -- it's not saying "refund".

So, you know, in addressing this argument that the OPA is doing something that's somehow inconsistent with a requirement, there is no requirement I'm aware of that's -- that in any way raises an inconsistency with what the OPA is doing.

To the extent that we have anything at all, it is this thing saying that profits would go towards the OPA's objectives.  I can't tell you that I know exactly what those words mean or that they're exactly applicable, but certainly directionally they give us some indication of the legislature's intention, and it's -- it's more consistent with the OPA's position in this case than with the position of intervenors, that directionally, to the extent that the OPA has a surplus, it goes back into the OPA's -- meeting the OPA's objects rather than a refund.

Now, again, if the OPA doesn't need it to meet its objects, then of course it gets refunded, and that's what the OPA is saying here.  They are looking to refund the majority of the forecast variance deferral account.

But to the extent that there is money that is needed to meet the OPA's objectives, I'm hard-pressed to see that the statute is saying anywhere that must go back to ratepayers.

So the next submission that I was hoping to address was this concept referred to by Schools that if the OPA is not permitted to retain its contingency amount, that this puts pressure on the OPA to keep costs down.

And in similar submissions made by Energy Probe -- that's at page 14 of the Energy Probe written document -- refers to a -- this would be a clear signal to keep the merger costs as low as possible.

In many ways it seems to me that this concept of putting pressure on the OPA is perhaps getting right to the nub of what the issue is before us here today.

As I've attempting to stress throughout the arguments I've made to the Board, there doesn't seem to be a lot of difference on the issues that intervenors are expressing concern about whether the money is borrowed or whether it comes from the forecast variance deferral account, so these issues include things like tracking, how the spending might be reviewed in a future case, the fact that there is different ratepayers for the OPA and the IESO.

In my submission, these will all be issues regardless of the source of the money.  So this causes one to wonder, what is the real problem with using the money in the forecast variance deferral account rather than borrowing.  Borrowing, of course, would mean carrying costs it would -- ultimately the IESO would be looking for ratepayers to bear.

And that's why I say we seem to have come to the nub of it, the difference between borrowing and using money in the forecast variance deferral account.  It's this concept that if the OPA is forced to find the money somewhere else, this will put pressure on the OPA to keep the costs as low as possible.

In my submission, this is not a role that the Board should find itself playing, putting that sort of pressure on the OPA.  To the extent that savings and efficiencies can be achieved, they should be real and meaningful and effective, and they should be all of those things, because the two organizations have put their effort into accomplishing that result, not because they're feeling pressure from another organization and pressure in a financial form.

To the extent that intervenors are correct in this thinking, that not allowing the money from the forecast variance deferral account, it puts pressure on the OPA, that effectively means some sort of financial pressure.  More or less, well, if we starve them for money, this will have an impact on them.

And in my submission, the Board certainly uses things like incentive regulation to achieve results when it comes to cost efficiencies and cost savings, but the notion of -- quite apart from any sort of incentive to apply financial pressure to an organization to achieve results like that, in my submission, that's quite outside the role of the Board.  And it's not something I'm aware that the Board has done before.

Again, the concept of an incentive and incentive regulation is quite different than the concept of applying financial pressure to an organization that is regulated by the Board.

Sorry, I'm trying to move through the arguments now.  There is not necessarily a particular order.

Another argument that came up a number of times referred to the Minister's letter referring to the $25 million that at one time the OPA proposed to refund from the forecast variance deferral account.

This letter was written in January of this year, well before the timing of the merger and the issue about merger costs that we're now addressing was even known.

And in respect of the -- what has happened since the merger in relation to the costs, the OPA answered an undertaking, J1.6.  And in J1.6, it is indicated that the merger working group agreed with the OPA's recommendation to retain the $15 million in the forecast variance deferral account.  It's also indicated that both the Deputy Minister of Energy and the Minister of Energy's chief of staff are on the merger working group that approved the recommendation to retain the money in the forecast variance deferral account.

Now, there seemed to be some suggestion or question: Well, that's all very well, that those two people on the working group have agreed with the recommendation, but what about having the Minister write another letter?

I suggest to the Board that that's not really something that one might have expected, that we're dealing here with how an account should be cleared.  The OPA has a proposal as to how the account should be cleared.  I submit to the Board that it's not realistic to think that the Minister would write a letter providing comments on how the Board might consider the clearing of a deferral account.  I think that's a rather unrealistic submission.

And in any event, given the participation of those two individuals I've named on the working group, I don't see that a letter would add anything to the Board's record, if it did exist.

Now, another issue that has come up is in relation to the notion that the money in the forecast variance deferral account that has been paid by the fee-payers of the OPA will or could pay IESO costs.

And I believe Board Staff argued specifically in favour of the proposal to retain the money in the account, but for a condition that would limit the use of the money to OPA costs.

I would just ask the Board -- I think I covered this in argument-in-chief, so I hope I won't be repeating myself unnecessarily, but, again, I ask the Board to consider the nature of these costs.

Mr. Brett made clear that some costs will be identifiable as OPA costs or IESO costs.  That is the case, but it is equally the case that there will be costs that are not so readily identifiable.  For example, retaining expert assistance to help with the merger, that's not so readily identifiable as an OPA cost or an IESO cost.

We then layer on top of that the fact that as of January the 1st, while these activities are still going on, the OPA will continue to exist.  That's the way the legislation reads.  The OPA doesn't -- its existence does not come to an end; it continues to exist as part of a merged organization.

So in that context, it's -- there -- in my submission it's a rather difficult condition to then say these costs must be limited to OPA costs.  What are OPA costs once the OPA has merged with the IESO and it continues, but the two are a merged organization?

This is why in my argument-in-chief I suggested that these issues can much more readily be dealt with when the costs are known.

I'm more or less talking about hypotheticals here.  I'm talking about, you know, the idea of an expert being retained to help with the merger.  When the costs are actually known, it will be possible for the Board to deal with this on the basis of real costs.  It won't be hypothetical.  And the Board can come to whatever conclusions it needs to or feels it needs to with respect to the appropriate treatment of those costs, with the basis -- with the benefit of real information.

Again, this is what I said in argument-in-chief.  I'm just, again, trying to stress that this notion of saying something shall be only OPA cost is not as clear-cut going forward as one might think that it is, because there are costs that will need some allocations later on; they are not readily attached to one or another organization.  And there is the fact that as of January 1st, the two organizations will have merged.

And so there will be a need later on to address this issue about what costs are appropriately allocated in what manner, but it is not something that really can be well done, or as well done, looking forward from now or attempting to attach a condition that would restrict the treatment of these costs going forward.  It would create this position of attempting to interpret:  Well, what is an OPA cost?  What is an OPA cost when we retain this expert for the purposed of advice with the merger?  What is an OPA cost once the merger has occurred?

It would create all that uncertainty that can be addressed later on.

I do point out as well that in the response –- sorry, I did just want to take a step back.  So the underlying concern here does seem to be about the difference between the fee-payers of the OPA and the fee-payers of the IESO.

I would observe that we don't really, at this point, have any information even about the materiality of that, to what extent there is such a difference in the fee-payers that this is even going to be material in the end result.

This is a further reason why I say it's best to address this when we know what the numbers are, we know to what extent it's material.

And I would observe that, in contrast, when the OPA was initially established and the $15 million came in the other direction to fund costs of the OPA, there was no similar concern about differences between OPA fee-payers and IESO fee-payers.

I haven't heard anybody today that -- it's been referred to a number of times, this $15 million that moved in the other direction.  I haven't heard anybody express a concern about the difference in the fee-payers at that time.

So again, the extent to which this is really a material issue is something that we can deal with when we have the information.  At this point, it's a technical point, but we do know that the situation is different than when the $15 million came from the IESO, because at least we do know that there will be an opportunity for the Board to look at this in the future.  And that is something that is a distinction from the previous example.

Now, another subject that was touched on quite a bit was the tracking of these costs.  There seemed to be some misapprehension that there is not a plan to track the costs.

There is a plan, and it is happening.  I think the misapprehension may have occurred just because of the same point that I was making in this argument, about the allocation exercise that will have to be done.

That is an exercise that will be done in the future, but because there is an allocation exercise to be done, the OPA did not at any time mean to suggest that there is not a plan or that the plan is not happening.

There is a plan to track the costs, and it has been implemented already.

So this was addressed by Ms. Kosic at the hearing, and she described what I would submit to the Board is really quite a comprehensive plan and proposal for the tracking of these costs.  I won't read it all, but it is at page 9 of the transcript from the hearing.  She said:

"Both the OPA and the IESO will track and accumulate integration costs through separate and unique accounts in their accounting systems.  Integration costs will be reviewed and approved by the integration project office, and then they will follow the usual procurement processes at both organizations.  Senior management and the board of directors will periodically review reporting costs as required.  Integration costs will include only costs that are incremental, readily discernible, and directly related to merger activities and will not include costs that will reasonably have been incurred in the normal course of business of either organization.  The OPA is committed to transparency with respect to detailed merger costs.  The OPA and the IESO will track and report costs before and after the merger, as reflected in the FVDA, including balances at January 1st, which is the targeted merger date."

It's comprehensive and it's clear, and there is no reason for the Board to be in any doubt about there existing a plan for the tracking of the costs.


Another submission that was made today -- CME is one that I recall, and I think there were others -- was that, rather than seeking to retain money in the forecast variance deferral account, the OPA should have reapplied with a new business plan to the Minister, including the merger costs, and then making a new revenue-requirement submission to the Board.


I think I addressed in argument-in-chief -- I haven't gone back to re-read the transcript -- that first of all I don't see that this is contemplated by the statute.  The statute has a set procedure for how these applications occur, a series of time lines and steps, and I don't think that any such thing is contemplated by the statute.  Quite apart from that, it's not practical.  In fact, it's so impractical as to be, I think, virtually impossible.


From the time that the time frame for the merger became known in July, the OPA would have had to do a new business plan, get that to the Minister for the Minister's approval, get the approval back, get an application in to the Board, all those steps, notice and so on.  I just don't think it was practical or even possible to have achieved that before the merger date on January 1st.


CME had some submissions about ratepayer protections in the event that the Board does allow -- does agree that the money can be retained in the FVDA.  A number of these had to do with tracking, and again, my submission is that the OPA has made a comprehensive and clear commitment to the Board on tracking already.


There were a couple of the other so-called ratepayer protections that I thought I should touch on.  First, one was that the Board should direct the OPA that there would be an application to clear the forecast variance deferral account by September 1st of 2015.


Again, this is one of these things that is not clear to me -- excuse me -- as contemplated by the statute.  I already talked about the amending statute and its provisions regarding the first IESO revenue-requirement submission after the merger.  The timing of the application, the revenue-requirement submission, is determined by those things, including the Minister's approval of the business plan.  I don't know that that can be changed by an order that something be filed by September 1st.


Now, perhaps the notion is that there could be a separate application to clear the forecast variance deferral account separate from the IESO's first revenue-requirement submission after the merger.


In that regard, I would just remind the Board of the provision I referred to in argument-in-chief.  Subsection 10 of section 25 of the amending legislation says that "orders for the predecessor organizations continue until the Board approves the first revenue-requirement submission of the IESO after the merger."


So it's not at all clear to me how there can be some other application in respect of the forecast variance deferral account to the Board until that first revenue-requirement submission.


So again, that's subsection 25(10) of the amending legislation, providing for orders to continue until the Board approves the first revenue-requirement submission.


Now, the one other of CME's so-called ratepayer protections that I was intending to address was the notion that the Board would give a direction in this case regarding evidence in the IESO's revenue-requirement submission about costs and benefits of the merger.


Now, of course the OPA and the IESO will be looking to keep the costs low and to find whatever benefits they can.  Fundamentally, though, this merger is something that the two organizations are required to do by statute.  So in my submission, it would be presumptive and it would even be pre-judging the IESO's revenue-requirement submission for the Board in this direction -- sorry, this proceeding to give some direction that would essentially mean a cost/benefit analysis in that future case.


That can be addressed in the case at the time, but right now the organizations are doing something because the statute requires them to do it.


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Cass, can I just ask you one question about the deferral accounts?  You said that under section 25(10) because the order is an order to the OPA you couldn't have an application to clear the variance deferral account until after the first IESO -- new IESO fees case had been approved, or revenue -- whatever.


MR. CASS:  We are certainly not clear on it, Ms. Spoel, yes.  Mm-hmm.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  The question I have, though, is not about that.  The question I have is, could you now, let's say now, or last year, as the OPA, could the OPA bring an application to clear this variance account in the absence of the -- an application for its fees and revenue requirement?


MR. CASS:  Very good question.  As I said in argument-in-chief, I'm not aware that the statute really even says anything about deferral and variance accounts for the OPA, so we have no statutory direction on that.


Very good question.  I'd need to ponder that, I'm sorry.  I haven't got an answer off the top of my head.


MS. SPOEL:  Nor do I.


MR. CASS:  I can say I'm quite certain there is nothing in the statute that talks about the Board's treatment of deferral and variance accounts for the OPA, so...


MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CASS:  There were submissions also made about the extent of the OPA's stakeholder engagement since it was last before the Board.  There is a lot of evidence on this.  I'm at a bit at a loss as to how to respond to the allegations and innuendo, given the amount of evidence about what the OPA has done by way of stakeholder engagement since its last proceeding in front of the Board.


What I will do is just give the Board a few references on this subject.  The first is the response to BOMA's Interrogatory No. 7, so that's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2.07, BOMA 7.


This is information about the Advisory Council on Conservation.  I think this may have been referred to in argument.  It indicates that this council was established in January of 2002, so it's obviously an initiative taken by the OPA since it was last before the Board.


There was some suggestion in BOMA's argument about the involvement of -- I won't get the words precisely right -- but commercial and industrial types of stakeholders in the OPA's consultation initiatives.


Well, at the response to BOMA Interrogatory No. 7, the Board can see the composition of the Advisory Council on Conservation.  In my submission, it has representation from a wide range of interests, including things like the Advocacy Centre For Tenants, Green Communities Canada, and so on.


But on the subject of industrial and commercial representation there is a representative from IBM, there is a representative from Loblaws, there is a representative from the Retail Council of Canada.


So in my submission, it would be quite wrong for the Board to take away from the submissions today that the OPA is somehow neglecting to reach out to particular parts of the stakeholder community, such as industrial and commercial customers.

Another interrogatory response was the response to School's Interrogatory No. 16.  This -- I won't go through it in detail, but it highlights some of the many approaches that the OPA has adopted to stakeholder consultation.  There is a list of them under "Traditional approaches," there is a list of "Enhanced approaches."  I would say in excess of 15 different items.

The traditional approaches include e-blast notification, subscription services, webinars, advisory committees, working group.

The evidence is extensive about the OPA's efforts to engage in appropriate stakeholder consultation.  It was also reiterated at the hearing when the witnesses were examined, so I'll just quickly give the Board a couple of references there.

The hearing transcript, page 72, Ms. McNally was giving evidence about consultation in respect of the conservation framework.  She referred to the public webinars.  She referred to the webinar with over 400 participants, that Mr. Brett also referred to.  She says:

"We've met with municipalities.  We have met with multi-distributor customers as well as channel partners.  A meeting was held July 10th with that group, and additional meetings will be held later this month.  I'll note that BOMA was in attendance at that meeting on July 10th.  We have also discussed these matters with the stakeholder advisory committee.  And of course AMPCO and LIEN, who are also frequently represented here, are part of the stakeholder advisory committee -- sorry, that was the advisory council on conservation, where AMPCO and LIEN are both represented.  At the SAC, AMPCO and CCC are both on that committee."

Then also at the hearing, Ms. Da Rocha gave evidence about the OPA stakeholder consultation and she said:
"When we are designing stakeholders' engagements, what we do is we look at the parameters of the particular stakeholder engagement, and then we discuss with the division that's leading the engagement what the target audiences may be for that particular engagement.  So it is at that point that we look to see is it developers, is it ratepayers, is it LDCs, and so forth.  So I think it is more incorporating ratepayers within those target groups across all of our stakeholders' engagements, versus having particular meetings with a ratepayer group just together..."

So again, there is extensive evidence about what the OPA has done to consult with stakeholders and to improve its stakeholder consultation since its last appearance before the Board.

A similar point brought up in arguments related to metrics and milestones.  I did address this at length in argument-in-chief, so I won't repeat things.

Based on the points that I made in argument-in-chief, I would submit to the Board that at this time there is a very real question about how far one goes to try to answer a question that has proved so far to be so unanswerable as it relates to the OPA, and to what extent does it continue to be cost-effective to pursue that.

However, I did refer in argument-in-chief to the OPA's evidence and its views regarding continuation, and, you know, accepting advice from the Board on this.

Again, I just point out that, following up on the observations I made in argument-in-chief about all the time and effort that has gone into this, that in my submission there is a question about how cost-effective it is to continue to try to answer a question that has proved to be so elusive after so much work.

I do also just want to add a little bit of context to these submissions about stakeholder consultations and milestones and metrics.  There is nothing in the statute or nothing in the Board's mandate that makes these issues things for the Board to be concerned about on their own.  They become issues for the Board to the extent that they affect the revenue requirement submission that the OPA is making to the Board.

So to the extent that the Board is concerned about stakeholder consultations or metrics and milestones in assessing the revenue requirement submission, then of course they are relevant.

But what we see in this case is, from many intervenors, there actually is no opposition to the revenue requirement or to the usage fee.  And that was a very strong theme of arguments today.

So I ask the Board to consider what is really the importance of these metrics and milestones and these consultations in the context of this case, where apparently many leading intervenors have been able to get themselves to the view that they don't have a problem with the revenue requirement or the usage fee.

They've done that without more work on metrics and milestones; they've done that with the existing consultations.

So again, I just submit that those things need to be looked at in a context.  And in this case, the context is they don't seem to be attached to any problem with the fundamental issues in the case that the Board has to decide.

Just very quickly, Mr. --


MS. LONG:  I don't want you to rush.  4:35 is not a problem.  Five o'clock is a problem, but take your time.

MR. CASS:  I am just at the end.  These are just sort of loose ends.  There were so many points today and there are some loose ends, but I am at the end of my submissions.

Mr. Janigan referred to some cases.  I haven't had the opportunity to study these in detail.  It does seem clear to me that they are quite a different situation.  It appears to me, based on my quick review of them, that they are addressing responsibility for transactional costs when a privately owned, regulated entity chooses to enter into some sort of corporate transaction.

The issue then arises whether that's in any way a ratepayer responsibility for a corporate transaction that the owner of the regulated entity has chosen to embark upon.

In my submission, these cases are different for a number of reasons.

The OPA, of course, is not a privately owned entity.  It does not have shared capital.  It does not have a source of funds other than the fees approved by the Board.

The merger in this case, it's not an OPA corporate transaction.  It's an amalgamation required by the governing legislation of the OPA.

I would also observe as well that -- and I would actually like to emphasize it -- in my submission, this case is not addressing cost responsibility.  The authorities referred to by Mr. Janigan have to do with cost responsibility.  This case is just addressing whether some money should be retained in the FVDA for a contingency.

It's been covered in this case already that a review of that will occur in a future case.  This case is not about cost responsibility.

Mr. -– or Dr. Higgin, I'm sorry, made some submissions about interest on the forecast variance deferral account.  Very quickly, these are addressed in the response to Undertaking J1.4.

Dr. Higgin, one of his questions was how the interest is calculated.  Well, the answer to Undertaking J1.4 indicates that it was bank interest.  It's the interest that the bank paid on the monies in the FVDA.

His other question was how it was refunded, and that also is answered in the same undertaking response, that it was refunded as a credit to ratepayers through the global adjustment mechanism.

Dr. Higgin also made a submission about the registration fees deferral account.  And he made a comment in this regard, and it's in his written material as well -- I think it's page 17 -- to the effect that there's some question about whether the account meets the Board's standards to approve an account because of materiality.  And his reference for that was some evidence at the hearing.


I think it's important, though, to read the evidence extract, because the witness, Ms. Kosic, was saying -- she was talking about the purpose of the account.  She says:

"So the purpose of the account was to provide greater clarity, and to give more transparency around registration fees.  So it's not a question of materiality; it is a mechanism to highlight that component..."

So what I'm attempting to bring out here is that I don't think Ms. Kosic was in anyway addressing the Board's materiality standard for approving a deferral account.  She was addressing the purpose for which this account was proposed by the OPA.

I don't think there can be any doubt that registration fees are of sufficient materiality, the quantum of them, to justify an account.

So I hope that that's clear and that the Board will see that that was not intent of this evidence, to indicate that there's some question around the Board's materiality standard.  It had to do with the purpose for the account.

I did have some other loose ends, but I think that's essentially the points that I was hoping to cover today, unless the Board thinks I've missed something crucial.  I apologize for going a little over.

MS. LONG:  No, that's fine.  I don't think we have any further questions for you, Mr. Cass.

So we thank everyone today for their submissions, and we are adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:34 p.m.
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